Portland State University PDXScholar

Dissertations and Theses

Dissertations and Theses

10-24-2019

Family, School, and Forms of Capital

Sonja Taylor Portland State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://pdxscholar.library.pdx.edu/open_access_etds

Part of the Elementary Education Commons, and the Sociology Commons Let us know how access to this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Taylor, Sonja, "Family, School, and Forms of Capital" (2019). *Dissertations and Theses*. Paper 5333. https://doi.org/10.15760/etd.7206

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations and Theses by an authorized administrator of PDXScholar. Please contact us if we can make this document more accessible: pdxscholar@pdx.edu.

Family, School, and Forms of Capital

by

Sonja Taylor

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Sociology

Dissertation Committee: Emily Fitzgibbons Shafer, Chair Lindsey Wilkinson Dara Shifrer Candyce Reynolds

Portland State University 2019

© 2019 Sonja Taylor

Abstract

This dissertation contains three separate but related papers, each with a different focus. In the three papers, I sought to gain a deeper understanding of how different forms of cultural and social capital appeared in the relationship between families and schools. The first paper covers an interview study exploring how teachers in elementary school understood and used email to facilitate partnership with parents, a form of social capital that has the potential to benefit families from all class backgrounds. The second paper investigates the relationship between socioeconomic status, bonding social capital and cultural capital; I tested whether social capital affected teacher perceptions of shared goals (a form of cultural capital). The final paper focuses on how children's sense of belonging affected their ability to exhibit grit, a key characteristic for academic success.

Paper 1 – Email and facilitation of parent-teacher relationships. Parent-teacher communication is a fundamental way parents can participate in their children's education. Prior research has shown the importance of parent participation in supporting student success. Researchers have specifically noted the importance of relationship building between parents and teachers. Communication between parents and teachers acts as a form of social capital, helping parents gain access to the cultural capital of shared goals. At the same time, technology has enhanced communication methods. Using interviews with eight Title I teachers and eight non-Title I teachers, I investigated the role of email in helping teachers facilitate partnership with parents. By comparing responses from teachers who worked with parents from different class backgrounds, I was able to gain a deeper understanding of some of the benefits and drawbacks of email communication, as well as assess barriers that prevented some parents from using this form of communication. I found that digital communication, including email, could act as a form of social capital, helping parents gain access to the cultural capital of achieving goals shared between parents and teachers. My findings indicate that although email could be a useful tool, significant barriers persisted for parents from lower-SES backgrounds regarding accessing meaningful conversations with teachers. Helping lower-SES parents remove barriers by providing reliable access, training, translation services, and support for teachers could help reduce class-based inequities in schools, thereby engaging a broader range of parents in partnership with teachers.

Paper 2 – Mothers' social capital and teachers' perceptions of shared goals. Previous researchers have examined the role of social capital in helping parents further the interests of their children in school. Although much of the research has focused on parent networks, some researchers have begun to examine the role of social capital within one important dyad – the parent-teacher relationship. Most researchers studying the social capital in parent–teacher relationships have suggested that middle- and upper-income parents have access to more and broader forms of social capital. Thus, these parents are more likely to have access to the social capital found in parent–teacher relationships and, therefore, to the cultural capital found in shared goals. In this study, I used a subsample from the Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing Study (N = 1,340) and logistic regression to test if higher-SES mothers were more likely to be viewed by teachers as sharing goals with the school. Additionally, I constructed an index for measuring bonding social capital and tested whether having higher levels of social capital increased the likelihood that teachers perceived mothers as sharing goals with the school. Finally, I examined whether social capital mediated the relationship between SES and teacher perception that mothers in the sample shared goals with the school. I found that teachers were more likely to perceive higher-SES mothers as sharing school goals. Further, I found a positive relationship between higher levels of bonding social capital and teacher perception that mothers shared goals with the school. However, social capital did not act as a mediator between mothers' SES and shared goals; therefore, possession of bonding social capital had a unique positive relationship with the likelihood that teachers perceived mothers as sharing goals with the school. My findings highlight the need for continued research on the role of bonding social capital to show how it might contribute to building or accessing other forms of capital.

Paper 3 – Belonging and teacher perception of student grit. Grit, in the form of persistence, has emerged as an important noncognitive trait that contributes to academic success. Many studies have shown that an SES gap exists in student achievement and that more grit is required for lower-SES children to succeed in school. Although teacher perception of grit in relation to SES is less clear in existing literature, research has shown that teacher perception is important for student achievement. In addition, a growing body of research has shown a relationship between grit and students' sense of belonging. In this study, I conceptualized belonging as a form of social capital. I measured belonging by creating an index from the children's responses to questions about their time at school and how often they felt close to someone, happy, safe, and part of their schools. Using data from the Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing Study, I tested whether teachers were

more likely to perceive grit in higher-SES children relative to lower-SES children. Additionally, I used logistic regression to test if children's sense of belonging mediated the relationship between SES and teacher perception of grit. To test for mediation of children's sense of belonging related to teacher perception and SES, I calculated predicted probabilities across two models, one including the index of child sense of belonging. I found a positive relationship between higher-SES and teacher perception of children's grit and between children's sense of belonging and teachers' perceptions of children's grit. Calculation of predicted probabilities across models did not reveal evidence of mediation; therefore, children's sense of belonging was shown to have a unique and positive relationship with teacher perception of grit. Past research has shown that lower-SES children need to exhibit more grit to achieve academic success, but my research shows higher-SES children are seen by teachers as exhibiting more grit. My findings highlight the need for continued research focused on the relationship between teacher perceptions of grit and SES. Further, because children's sense of belonging showed a unique and positive relationship with teachers' perceptions of grit, my findings demonstrate that belonging can be used as a form of social capital in relation to student success.

Dedication

For my grandmother, Ellora Margaret Van Lydegraf

Acknowledgments

"Our deepest fear is not that we are inadequate. Our deepest fear is that we are powerful beyond measure. It is our light, not our darkness That most frightens us.

We ask ourselves Who am I to be brilliant, gorgeous, talented, fabulous? Actually, who are you not to be?" – Marianne Williamson

Who am I not to be? I have held onto these words for many years. Originally they came to me on a bookmark, falsely attributed to Nelson Mandela. The fact that one of my favorite inspirational quotes was not cited correctly is vastly amusing to me, given the importance of correct citations in my life, and for me this mistake gives the quote even more power. As a female, first generation college student – who grew up poor with a single mom – I have always been slightly astonished by any of my accomplishments. In other words, I am shocked as (insert expletive) that I am actually where I am in life – and consequently I often find myself overwhelmed with gratitude and humility. My grandmother would surely say that this is "better than the alternative."

With her words, Williamson asks me to question the assumptions and stereotypes contained in my identity and she challenges me to embody the best of who I am. The mistaken citation reminds me of the importance of seeking evidence, but it also demonstrates the imperfections and failures that happen in life – despite our best intentions. Mistakes are the footprints of learning and my path to this degree has been long. Frustration and failure have become familiar companions and they rest now (just briefly) in this moment of triumph. I cannot set them aside for long, because they are intimately connected with learning and learning is essential.

I want to thank my Committee Chair, Dr. Emily Fitzgibbons Shafer, for her endless patience, support, guidance and critical feedback. Emily has been an incredible mentor for me, demonstrating not only the skills required for strong research integrity, but also showing me by example how to provide meticulous, helpful, and parsimonious feedback. My students have no idea how much they benefit from all she has taught me. I am grateful to the other members of my committee – Lindsey Wilkinson, Dara Shifrer and Candyce Reynolds – for their suggestions and support. I was fortunate to have a committee full of brilliant scholars and while this sometimes proved challenging, I cannot thank them enough for the ways they pushed me and for how much I grew from their advice and expertise. I am certain that I challenged them a great deal as well – I have had much on my plate the last 4 years.

My dissertation defense came at a particularly difficult time, directly after the passing of my grandmother. I was able to tell her that my defense was about to be scheduled so she knew that it was happening, but she was unable to see me through to the end. It is my deepest honor that, despite the chaos of my life, I was able to be there for her to the very end. I hope that before she transitioned, I was able to demonstrate to her how much her love and support have meant to me. She was not just my grandmother, she was my roommate, my best friend and my soul mate – I could not be who I am today without her. I am so very grateful for my family and friends who helped me keep moving

toward my goals, even when it seemed impossible – particularly the members of my household. Thank you Sean, Donovan, Liam, Joey... and the kittens.

I have to acknowledge the amazing people I work with, who have supported me in my growth as an educator and who have cheered me on during this educational journey – Krys Roth, Nicolle Dupont, Kari Kono, Jaime Wood, Mike Lupro, Maurice Hamington, Sarah Dougher, Rakeem Washington, Pete Leineweber, Evan Selby, Kate Molony, Ian Twiss, the rest of the Senior Inquiry faculty at Westview, Liberty, Roosevelt, Jefferson, Madison and Reynolds who work with me every day to help our students understand that they belong in the essential conversations of our society. They ARE the essential conversation of our society.

Most importantly for this work, I acknowledge and thank the teachers who participated in the qualitative portion of my dissertation. As a result of my conversations with these teachers, I am even more grateful for the good work they do on a daily basis to help build the foundation for our future. Finally, I am grateful beyond words for the students I have the privilege of serving. The youth of our world have so many challenges, both now and in the future. I believe in their capacity for empathy, action, growth and change and I hope that I can serve them in ways that are constructive and meaningful. I try every day to live by the unattributed quote, "I cannot do all the good the world needs, but the world needs all the good I can do."

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Dedication	v
Acknowledgments	vi
List of Tables	X
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 2: Email Facilitation of Parent–Teacher Relationship	11
Chapter 3: Mother's Social Capital and Shared Goals	55
Chapter 4: Belonging and Teacher Perception of Grit	
Chapter 5: Conclusion	
Appendix A: Qualitative Research Instrument	
Appendix B: Quantitative Codebook	

List of Tables

Table 1.	Theories of Capital	
Table 2.	Demographics of Participants	
Table 3.	Descriptive Statistics for Analytic Sample	67
Table 4.	Bivariate Analysis: Income	
Table 5.	Bivariate Analysis: Education	69
Table 6.	Odds Ratios for Logistic Regression Models Predicting Teacher Perception that Mothers Share School Goals	
Table 7.	Predicted Probabilities for Teachers Perceptions that Mothers will Share Goals with the School	74
Table 8.	Descriptive Statistics for Analytic Sample	
Table 9.	Bivariate Analysis: Income	
Table 10.	Bivariate Analysis: Education	
Table 11.	Odds Ratios for Logistic Regression Models Predicting Teacher Perception that Children Exhibit Grit	
Table 12.	Predicted Probabilities for Teacher Perceptions that Students will Exhibit Grit	101

Chapter 1: Introduction

The American Dream is founded on the idea of meritocracy—the premise that hard work, individual skills, and ability can create social mobility (McNamee & Miller, 2009). Despite the fact that most Americans would endorse the idea of meritocracy as a foundational concept, their "lived experiences often tell them that factors other than individual merit play a role in getting ahead" (McNamee & Miller, 2009, p. 1). Although individual attitudes and work habits have some bearing on getting ahead in America, hard work alone is not enough to make a difference (McNamee & Miller, 2009). Instead, "getting ahead" depends on a combination of hard work and nonmerit factors that work together to facilitate social mobility (McNamee & Miller, 2009). Nonmerit factors might include culturally shaped skills, habits, and styles, as well as survival strategies (Farkas, 1996).

Merit and nonmerit factors interact in U.S. educational settings. On the one hand, when it comes to the American Dream, education is understood to be the "engine of meritocracy" (McNamee & Miller, 2009, p. 101). The American Dream hinges on beliefs in individual power, capacity, and agency—education is seen as the "great equalizer," the place where hard work can help students improve their life chances (Johnson, 2006, p. 31). However, the systemically and qualitatively different experiences and performances of American students show that educators have not delivered on the underlying promise of public education (Farkas, 1996; Johnson, 2006). For example, some children who have experienced marginalization because of race and class have developed hostility toward public schools or lost trust that teachers care (Farkas, 1996).

Even though the American Dream does not guarantee that everyone will be successful in America, it does suggest that people will have equal opportunity to excel, without any unfair advantages or barriers (Johnson, 2006). People come from different backgrounds; therefore, a system is needed to provide balance and legitimacy to support the idea of the American Dream. Education is the vehicle expected to deliver the promise of equity, providing opportunities that reduce inequalities (Johnson, 2006). However, when asked to reflect on their experiences, most people could not claim that schools in America were actually providing an experience that lived up to this promise (Johnson, 2006). Instead, a complex system reinforces and reproduces socioeconomic inequities (Farkas, 1996; Johnson, 2006; McNamee & Miller, 2009).

Forms of Capital: Social and Cultural Capital in Context

Educators have attempted to measure the educational outcomes of different populations by developing theories to describe forms of capital that reproduce inequities (Bourdieu & Passeron, 1977; Coleman, 1988; Farkas, 1996; Lareau, 2011). Classical sociological theorists have grounded the concept of forms of capital in theory developed by Karl Marx (Lin, 2017). Lin provided a useful diagram that includes major authors for each form of capital, as well as brief explanations of function, each scholar's definitions of capital, and the level of analysis used in each body of research. Particularly useful to my research are the parts of the table that deal with cultural and social capital. Table 1 shows this adapted portion of Lin's categorization of theory for help in framing my definition of terms.

Table 1

	Cultural Capital	Social Capital	
Theorist	Bourdieu	Lin, Burt, Marsden, Flap, Coleman	Bourdieu, Coleman, Putnam
Explanation	Reproduction of dominant symbols and meanings (values)	Access to and use of resources embedded in social networks	Solidarity and reproduction of group
Capital	Internalization or misrecognition of dominant values	Investment in social networks	investment in mutual recognition & acknowledgement
Level of Analysis	Individual/class	Individual	Group/Individual

Theories of Cultural and Social Capital

Note. Theories of Cultural and Social Capital Adapted from Building a network theory of social capital. In N. Lin, K. Cook, & R. S. Burt (Eds.), Social capital: Theory and research (pp. 3–28). New York, NY: Routledge.

In the three papers in this dissertation, I defined forms of capital relevant to the each study and connected the items I examined to the form of capital they represented. My research primarily focused on forms of cultural and social capital, paying particular attention to how social capital could help people activate or acquire cultural capital within the context of the home–school relationship.

Three Papers: Setting the Stage

In three papers, presented as three separate studies in this dissertation, I sought to gain a deeper understanding of how different forms of cultural and social capital

appeared in the relationship between families and schools. My first paper was a qualitative exploration of how teachers in elementary school understood and used email to facilitate partnership with parents. The second paper tests the relationship between socio-economic status, social capital and shared goals (a form of cultural capital). The third paper showed how children's sense of belonging could affect teachers' perceptions that the children were exhibiting grit, a key characteristic for academic success.

Definitions of Terms

Cultural capital – Cultural capital is embodied in people as a function of knowledge, skills, and language. These elements allow them to navigate the dominant society successfully (Bourdieu & Passeron, 1977). In my quantitative study on mothers and social capital, I conceptualized teachers' perceptions of shared goals as a form of cultural capital, because sharing goals implies common language and expectations regarding skills and procedures.

Digital communication – Previous researchers have discussed both technology and email when studying how parents and teachers have used digital communication (Murray, 2015; Olmstead 2013). In the first paper, I used the term *digital communication* when referring to email and other forms of technology that teachers use to communicate with parents. In the responses, teachers might have referred to *email* or *apps*. Digital communication was a more useful term because it encompasses the multiple ways parents and teachers can communicate through the Internet.

Digital Divide – The Digital Divide has been framed as a division between those who have access to technology and those who do not (Baym, 2015). An example of this

might be two schools, one where there are computer labs and one where no computer labs are present. However, as access to technology has increased, researchers have begun to refer to a second level digital divide that is focused on whether or not there are skills to use available technology (Mesch, 2012). For example, while all parents with kids in a particular school might have smartphones that allow them to access the internet, some parents may be more skilled at how to use email to communicate with their children's teacher compared with a parent who feels intimidated by the process and might therefore miss out on opportunities to connect.

Grit – Grit has been defined as a combination of persistence and passion for long term goals (Duckworth, Peterson, Matthews & Kelly, 2007). Authors have also defined grit as consisting of both persistence and continued interest (Bowman et al., 2015; Akos & Kretchmar, 2017; Weisskirch, 2018). While both persistence and passion are components of grit, passion is harder to capture quantitatively. However, some research has shown that persistence and continued interest are correlated with each other when it comes to teacher perception of student learning (Linnenbrink & Pintrich, 2003). With this in mind I used a measure of teacher perception of persistence as a proxy for the concept of grit. In any case, persistence is essential to academic success (Christensen & Knezek, 2014).

School Type – In my first study school type was originally meant to be distinguished by Title I and non-Title I schools. However, it became clear during my research that even within these designations there were broad variations in school culture and resources that impacted the perceptions and experiences of the teachers I

interviewed. Thus, school type should be seen as a broad term that allows for variation between the perceptions of teachers who work in different schools.

Social capital – Social capital is a resource that derives from relationship to others and, as noted in Table 1, is a function of an individual being embedded in a particular social network or as a consequence of mutual recognition and acknowledgment (Lin, 2017). For example, an individual might learn of a job opportunity through a friend who is part of their social network or feel empowered to seize an opportunity as a result of being part of a community where they feel mutual recognition and acknowledgement. My three studies emphasized mechanisms for accessing social capital. Specifically, I used three elements—bridging social capital, bonding social capital, and belonging as a form of youth social capital.

Bridging social capital – Bridging social capital is found in extended networks with relatively weak ties (Putnam, 2000). Bridging social capital can be used as a resource to benefit people when they learn about new opportunities and processes that they would not otherwise know about and could use to their advantage (Lancee & Bram 2016). Bridging social capital can be used to "get ahead" (Johnson, Honnold, & Threlfall, 2011; Putnam, 2000). Bridging social capital might also help individuals acquire cultural capital if the knowledge and skills gained from weak ties allow them to gain more alignment with dominant cultural norms (Freeman, 2010). For example, through building a relationship with their child's teacher, a parent might learn more about the norms and expectations of the institution where their child learns, allowing that parent a chance to better support the academic success of their child. **Bonding social capital** – Bonding social capital is found within strong ties and close kin networks (Johnson et al., 2011; Putnam, 2006). This form of social capital is a resource for getting by and maintaining well-being. For example, a friend or family member might provide free childcare. One downside to bonding social capital is that it can create obligations in addition to resources—for example, when people draw on the resources, an expectation of future reciprocity could result, and fulfilling those obligations might prove challenging (Coleman, 1988).

Belonging as youth social capital – In my third paper, I conceptualized belonging as a form of social capital because it fulfilled Lin's (2017) social capital criteria of mutual recognition and acknowledgment. I then tie belonging to Bassani's (2007) definition of Youth Social Capital because a child's sense of belonging is a social resource that I argue, in my final paper, can be transformed into social capital that can influence teacher perception.

Socioeconomic Status (SES) – SES is a widely used term in sociological research and while there is variation in how it is measured, most agree that it is some combination of income, education and occupation (Bradley & Corwyn, 2002). SES is important because research has shown a relationship between SES and academic achievement (Sirin, 2005). In my quantitative studies I use measures of maternal education and income to determine SES.

Titile I and non-Title I Schools – Title I schools receive governmental financial assistance because they serve higher numbers of low-income families (US Department of Education (n.d.). In my first study I am interested in looking at how class differences

might shape teacher perceptions. Therefore, I interviewed teachers from schools that received Title I funding and schools that did not.

References

- Akos, P., & Kretchmar, J. (2017). Investigating grit as a non-cognitive predictor of college success. *The Review of Higher Education*, 40(2), 163–186.
- Bassani, C. (2007). Five dimensions of social capital theory as they pertain to youth studies. *Journal of youth studies*, 10(1), 17-34.
- Bourdieu, P., & Passeron, J.-C. (1977). *Reproduction in education, society and culture* (Vol. 5). London, England: SAGE Studies in Social and Educational Change.
- Bowman, N. A., Hill, P. L., Denson, N., & Bronkema, R. (2015). Keep on truckin'or stay the course? Exploring grit dimensions as differential predictors of educational achievement, satisfaction, and intentions. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 6(6), 639–645.
- Bradley, R. H., & Corwyn, R. F. (2002). Socioeconomic status and child development. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 53(1), 371-399.
- Brown, P. (2013): Education, opportunity and the prospects for social mobility. *British* Journal of Sociology of Education, 34(5/6), 678–700.
- Christensen, R., & Knezek, G. (2014). Comparative measures of grit, tenacity and perseverance. *International Journal of Learning, Teaching, and Educational Research,* 8(1).
- Coleman, J. S. (1988). Social capital in the creation of human capital. *American Journal* of Sociology, 94, S95–S120.
- Duckworth, A. L., Peterson, C., Matthews, M. D., & Kelly, D. R. (2007). Grit: perseverance and passion for long-term goals. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 92(6), 1087.
- Farkas, G. (1996). *Human capital or cultural capital? Ethnicity and poverty groups in an urban school district*. New York, NY: Walter de Gruyter, Inc.
- Johnson, H. B. (2006). *The American dream and the power of wealth: Choosing schools and inheriting inequality in the land of opportunity.* New York, NY: Routledge.
- Johnson, J. A., Honnold, J. A., & Threlfall, P. (2011). Impact of social capital on employment and marriage among low-income single mothers. *Journal of Sociology & Social Welfare, 38*(4), 9-31.
- Lareau, A. (2011). *Unequal childhoods: Class, race, and family life*. Berkeley and Los Angeles, CA: University of California Press.

- Lin, N. (2017). Building a network theory of social capital. In N. Lin, K. Cook, & R. S. Burt (Eds.), *Social capital: Theory and research* (pp. 3–28). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Linnenbrink, E. A., & Pintrich, P. R. (2003). The role of self-efficacy beliefs in student engagement and learning in the classroom. *Reading &Writing Quarterly*, 19(2), 119-137.
- McNamee, S. J., & Miller, R. K. (2009). *The meritocracy myth*. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Putnam, R. D. (2000). Bowling alone: America's declining social capital. In L. Crothers & C. Lockhart (Eds.), *Culture and politics: A reader* (pp. 223–234). New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Sirin, S. R. (2005). Socioeconomic status and academic achievement: A meta-analytic review of research. *Review of Educational Research*, 75(3), 417-453.
- US Department of Education Website. (n.d.). Retrieved August 15, 2019, from https://www2.ed.gov/programs/titleiparta/index.html
- Weisskirch, R. S. (2018). Grit, self-esteem, learning strategies and attitudes and estimated and achieved course grades among college students. *Current Psychology*, *37*(1), 21–27.

Chapter 2: Email Facilitation of Parent–Teacher Relationship

The first paper presented in this dissertation is an exploration of the role of digital communication in facilitating the growth of social capital in the relationships between parents and teachers. A positive connection between parent participation and children's educational achievement has been well-documented in the literature (Castro et al., 2015; Coleman, 1988, 1993; Crosby, Rasinski, Padak, & Yildirim, 2015). Some research has shown that digital communication and other forms of technology can facilitate a stronger connection between families and school by enhancing parent-teacher communication (Olmstead, 2013). Strengthening parent-teacher communication is important; studies have shown that parents use the social capital created through parent-teacher communication to activate or access cultural capital (Freeman, 2010; Taylor, 2015). The cultural capital that parents access is in the form of shared goals with teachers (Bastiani, 2018), which signifies a stronger partnership between parents and teachers, leading to better outcomes for students (Lightfoot-Lawrence, 2003). Thus, it is important to understand how teachers perceive the role of digital communication in building the social capital found in relationships between parents and teachers.

Social capital has been defined broadly as resources accessed as a function of relationship to others (Coleman, 1988; Portes, 1998). Communication between parents and teachers is an aspect of social capital explored within both family and school literature (Coleman, 1988). Overall findings have shown that higher-SES parents have used their social networks for their children's benefit through increased participation in groups such as the PTA (Coleman, 1988; Horvat, Weininger, & Lareau, 2003). For

11

example, Coleman (1988) found parents from higher-SES backgrounds worked together to achieve outcomes that benefited their children; in contrast, lower-SES parents lacked connections with other parents that might have given them solidarity and enhanced power within the school system. Other research has shown that higher-SES parents were more likely than were lower-SES parents to use their connectedness with peers to further the interests of their children at school, partly because connections for lower-SES parents occurred along kinship lines (Horvat et al., 2003; Lareau, 2002). In other words, social network patterns of higher-SES parents were more effective in advancing parents' academic goals for students; however, few studies exist on how lower-SES parents have used or built social capital with teachers.

In order to have a more nuanced understanding of how social capital works, other scholars have called for more research on how social capital functions within different groups (Bassani, 2007; Lin, 2017). Some researchers have suggested that social capital accessed and activated by lower-SES groups has presented opportunities not used by higher-SES groups (Baym, 2015). For example, this increased opportunity was observed among people from lower-SES backgrounds as they used digital communication (Baym, 2015; Gonzales, 2017). In particular, the proliferation of smartphones has allowed low-income and minority families greater access to the Internet and its opportunities— including access to expanding social capital—by providing an avenue to build and maintain social networks (Gonzales, 2017). Specifically in relation to schools, some researchers have noted the growing importance of digital communication between parents and teachers, a potential source of social capital (Olmstead, 2013).

Scholars have called for more research along multiple avenues involving digital communication in relation to both social capital generally (Coffé & Geys, 2007; Poortinga, 2006) and parent involvement in school specifically (Posey-Maddox, 2012). In addition, scholars have recommended examining the effects of smartphone proliferation, particularly on low-income and marginalized groups (Olmstead, 2013; Pearce & Rice, 2013). Although limited research exists on teachers' use of digital communication with parents, the evolving nature of digital forms of communication and the mixed results from previous research have created an ongoing gap in the literature centering on the role of technology in the home–school connection (Baym, 2015; Gonzales, 2017; Olmstead, 2013). Because the role of digital communication in the context of partnership between parents and teachers is not well understood, more research is needed to investigate how teachers view the role of digital communication in facilitating their partnership with parents.

If teachers perceive digital communication as beneficial for building partnership and shared goals (a form of cultural capital) with parents, then supporting digital forms of communication for all parents would be important for student success. If teachers perceive that smartphones provide increased Internet access and help families from lower-SES backgrounds participate more in their children's schooling through digital communication (a potential source of social capital), then helping parents gain and maintain access to smartphones and service would be important for student success. However, if teachers find digital communication is not useful for building partnership and shared goals, or if they find digital communication is harmful to building partnership, then schools might want to create policies that limit digital communication. If teachers perceive that digital communication is beneficial, but that lower-SES families have limited access and that smartphones do not help parents from lower-SES backgrounds participate more in their children's schooling, then reliance on digital communication between parents and teachers might exacerbate existing inequities between families from different SES backgrounds.

To explore teachers' perceptions of the role of digital communication, I asked the following research questions:

- 1. What are teachers' perceptions of the pros and cons of digital communication in facilitating parent-teacher relationships?
 - a. Do teachers' perceptions of the pros and cons of digital communication in facilitating parent-teacher relationships vary across school type?
- 2. What are teachers' perceptions of the increased prevalence of smartphones in terms of impact on digital communication between parents and teachers?
 - a. Do teachers' perceptions of the increased prevalence of smartphones in terms of impact on digital communication between parents and teachers vary across school type?

Background and Literature

Parent Participation

The importance of parent participation in student achievement has been welldocumented in existing literature (Coleman, 2018; Crosby et al., 2013; Harris & Goodall, 2008). Parental participation includes communicating from home to school, attending school functions, volunteering in the classroom, attending parent-teacher conferences, helping children with homework, providing extra educational opportunities at home, and participating in school policy decision making (Cotton & Wikelund, 1989). In a study of the reproduction of social class, Lareau (1987) emphasized the importance of the home-school relationship and provided a foundation for the examination of small moments or micro exchanges between parents and teachers (Lareau, 2015). Lareau (1987, 2015) has greatly contributed to the perspective that the most efficacious forms of parent participation are communication, conferences, and interaction with teachers, all of which strengthen the connection between home and school (Bastiani, 2018; Edwards & Redfern, 2017; Landeros, 2011). In particular, the partnership between teachers and parents is a key factor in students' academic success (Landeros, 2011), because within that relationship is the opportunity to develop a shared understanding about academic goals that could help parents reinforce students' learning at home (Taylor, 2015).

Research has shown that some lower-SES parents can use the parent-teacher relationship to access and activate valuable forms of cultural capital, in the form of shared goals between parents and teachers (Freeman, 2010; Taylor, 2015). Thus, partnership between parents and teachers is built through communication; therefore, applying tools that increase opportunities for communication could be helpful in facilitating parent-teacher relationships and the shared goals of partnership—digital communication is one such tool (Olmstead, 2013).

The Importance of Digital Communication

Although extensive literature exists related to parent-teacher communication, fewer studies have been conducted on the intricacies and perceptions of the efficacy of digital communication for parents and teachers (Thompson, 2008). In the studies that do exist, researchers have found that the main focus of digital communication between parents and teachers involves behavior and grades (Domina, 2005; Dotterer & Wehrspann, 2016; Natale & Lubniewski, 2018; Thompson, 2008). Additional research has indicated that digital communication could help parents engage with teachers more often and at more length (Kraft & Rogers, 2015; Olmstead, 2013). Because digital communication frees people from time constraints, connections can be maintained in a way that fits any schedule. However, time constraints are not the only reason workingclass and low-income parents communicate less frequently with teachers, compared to their middle- and high-income counterparts. Schedule barriers—what Williams and Sánchez (2013) termed "time poverty" (p. 55)—have been documented as significant obstacles to parents trying to communicate with their children's teachers (Finders & Lewis 1994; Graham-Clay, 2005).

Because time can be a barrier for parent–teacher interaction, fluency with digital communication might be critical in helping parents mitigate a barrier to fruitful dialogue, thereby helping children achieve the best possible academic outcomes. However, if some parents do not have access to digital communication, schools that rely heavily on digital communication could create barriers for parents who do not have access (Baym, 2015). This inequality of access to digital communication is part of a larger discussion focused

on a digital divide between the "haves" and "have nots" (Dimaggio, Hargittai, Neuman, & Robinson, 2001; Mesch, 2012).

Digital Divide

The term *digital divide* is used to describe the technology gap between the socalled haves and have nots (Dimaggio et al., 2001; Mesch, 2012). Over time, researchers have differentiated two distinct levels of digital divide, and some have pointed to the need to understand the digital divide in more nuanced ways (Mesch, 2012; Tsetsi & Rains, 2017). *Level 1 digital divide* refers to physical access to different forms of technology; in contrast, *level 2 digital divide* refers to a gap in proficiency and types of use (Mesch, 2012; Tsetsi & Rains, 2017). Assessing types of use is important because some forms of technology appear to be more beneficial for expanding opportunities, while other types of use seem to reinforce barriers or block individuals from accessing the potential opportunities that technology provides (Warshauer, Knobel, & Stone, 2004). Other researchers have argued that conceptualizing the digital divide as binary is problematic and limits understanding of its actual function (Warshauer et al., 2004).

Recent researchers have suggested that the proliferation of smartphones and the less expensive access they provide to the Internet has shifted the digital divide in some instances (Gonzales, 2017; Pearce & Rice, 2013). In other words, poor people have more access to the Internet now because of smartphones. Additionally, some researchers have found that individuals from low-income and marginalized groups use digital platforms of communication in ways that individuals from higher class backgrounds do not (Gonzales, 2017). Specifically, low-income and marginalized groups have benefited from social aspects of digital communication; in some cases, they have been able to leverage their proficiency with social use to build social capital by expanding their quantity of weak ties through digital connection (Gonzales, 2017; Pearce & Rice, 2013). However, in many cases, existing inequities are exacerbated by both the Internet generally and dependence on smartphones for Internet access specifically (Warshauer et al., 2004). Specifically within schools, inequities may be exacerbated not only by unequal access but also by how technology is implemented (Warshauer et al., 2004). In addition, although access to the Internet and forms of digital communication has increased for marginalized groups because of the smartphone, issues persist with gaining reliable and affordable connection to service providers (Gonzales et al., 2018).

In sum, when Internet access reached the public, scholars had mixed reactions to the new form of technology. Some argued that the Internet would create opportunities to alleviate inequality (Gonzales, 2017; Pearce & Rice, 2013); others argued that the new technology would reinforce existing inequality based on sociodemographic differences (Warshauer et al., 2004). Researchers studying the effects of the Internet have confirmed both perspectives (Marler, 2018; Tsetsi & Rains, 2017). Others have recommended exploring the different levels of access to technology among individuals from different groups, the types of technology they use, and how they use technology (Dimaggio et al., 2001; Pearce & Rice, 2013; Warshauer et al., 2004). In addition, researchers have suggested studying specific contexts that might shape whether technology acts as a barrier or a benefit (Dimaggio et al., 2001; Wellman et al., 2001). As mentioned, the proliferation of smartphones has increased access to the Internet for low-income and marginalized groups (Gonzales, 2017; Pearce & Rice, 2013); however, researchers have found mixed results regarding whether smartphones are acting as barriers or benefits when it comes to building social capital for members of these groups (Gonzales, Calarco, & Lynch, 2018; Tsetsi & Rains, 2017). These mixed results have prompted a need to seek a deeper understanding of how digital communication is used by different groups and in different contexts—and more specifically, how digital communication could provide opportunities for social capital.

Digital Communication and Social Capital: Bridging the Digital Divide

Social capital differs from other forms of capital in the sense that it exists as a function of relationship. Founding scholars of the concept (e.g., Bourdieu, 1985; Coleman, 1988) described social capital as a resource that could be accessed as a function of belonging to a particular group, existing within social relationships and providing access to resources that would not otherwise be available without those relationships. Building on these concepts, Putnam (2000) differentiated social capital into specific categories, claiming that the most important categories to consider were bonding social capital and bridging social capital. Bonding social capital consists of strong ties with close networks, and bridging social capital consists of differentiated weak ties that provide access to new sources of information and opportunities (Baym, 2015; Johnson et al., 2011; Lin, 2017; Putnam, 2000).

Strong ties are connections that facilitate bonding social capital, useful for maintaining existing social space; in contrast, weak ties are bridging social capital, helpful for increasing opportunities for social mobility (Baym, 2015; Johnson, Threlfall & Honnold, 2011). Bonding social capital is exclusive because it is derives from the relationships people have with others who are most similar, accessed through "strong ties" to kin networks and close friends (Putnam, 2000, p. 23). On the other hand, bridging social capital is inclusive because it forms within relationships established by "weak ties" with people who are different (Putnam, 2000, p. 23). The social capital found in parent–teacher communication could be considered a type of bridging social capital because it creates a relationship in which parents gain access to new knowledge and skills through a weak-tie relationship; this knowledge could be used to improve their children's educational opportunities and outcomes.

Regarding technology, recent research has shown that marginalized groups use the Internet for networking more often than do groups that are more advantaged (Gonzales, 2017). The connections marginalized groups make often help them access bridging social capital: "Disadvantaged groups are using the Internet to engage with dissimilar or weak tie relationships that they do not engage with offline, especially compared with advantaged groups who do not display this pattern" (Gonzales, 2017). Further, not only do people from marginalized backgrounds use this opportunity, they are also the primary users of the Internet as a source of bridging social capital (Gonzales, 2017). In sum, digital communication such as email between parents and teachers might offer a unique context in which to explore the efficacy of a digitally facilitated weak-tie connection.

Technology and Cultural Capital: Digital Competency

Some scholars have argued that differences in cultural capital arise due to a difference of cultural values; however, research has shown that lower and higher SES parents share values for their children. Instead of a difference in values, cultural capital can be seen as a "tool kit" of skills, knowledge, and habits that benefit individuals and increase chances of either maintaining socioeconomic status or attaining social mobility (Farkas, 1996; Swidler, 1986). These cultural tool kits help facilitate strategies used by individuals to navigate their daily lives (Swidler, 1986). Familiarity with a particular set of skills could prevent some individuals from adopting a new set of skills, habits, and language that might help them "get ahead"—barriers that might need mentorship in order to remove (Lareau, 2015; Swidler, 1986). Swidler (1986) noted,

To adopt a line of conduct, one needs an image of the kind of world in which one is trying to act, a sense that one can read reasonably accurately (through one's own feelings and through the responses of others) how one is doing, and a capacity to choose among alternate lines of action. (p. 275)

In other words, the way in which an individual imagines and develops strategies for how to move forward require a context from which they determine common sense courses of action – contexts that can differ based on SES.

In terms of skills, habits, and knowledge in the digital world, traditional assumptions about how people build and transfer cultural capital might not necessarily apply. For example, Rafalow (2018) argued that digital skills in the technological age constitute a type of cultural capital available to individuals from working class and marginalized groups. In this instance, cultural capital is defined as familiarity with institutionalized norms that can either include or exclude individuals from obtaining

opportunities and resources (Rafalow, 2018). In the case of digital skills, these could be considered cultural capital if possessing them helps parents align with parent-teacher communication norms that improve outcomes for students. In other words, if parents possess digital skills that allow them to facilitate partnership with teachers through digital communication, those digital skills are acting as a form of cultural capital.

Another way to view digital skills as a form of cultural capital is to conceptualize digital skills as tools that help parents navigate educational institutions in ways that benefit their children. Lareau (2015) has built on 20 years of research to develop the idea of cultural capital as a series of strategies or a set of tools—in that sense, cultural capital means knowing the "rules of the game" (p. 2). If teachers perceive that lower-SES parents are successfully building relationship with teachers through digital skills are a form of cultural capital that lower-SES parents access through their understanding of these digital rules of the game.

Current Study

This study focused on teachers selected from two types of schools: Title I-funded schools serving low-SES student bodies and schools that did not receive Title I funding, serving more affluent student bodies. The teachers in this study taught elementary students in third-, fourth-, and fifth-grade classrooms in the Portland Metropolitan Area. Participants worked in three districts and came from a variety of backgrounds, although most of them had been teaching for eight to 10 years. I interviewed eight teachers from

Title I elementary schools and eight teachers from non-Title I schools in order to compare groups and look for differences in how teachers at the two types of schools used email.

I scheduled individual interviews with the participants to ask them how they understood the role of email and how they used email in facilitating partnership with their students' parents (Appendix A). Additionally, I inquired how they viewed using smartphones to email with parents. From this teacher-centered perspective, I sought to understand how email affected parent–teacher partnership as well as how advances in technology reshaped or enforced parent–teacher partnership generated by access to social capital for these teachers.

The home–school partnership represents a broad opportunity for engagement in bridging social capital; since teachers regularly interact with parents from lower SES backgrounds. Because increased access to bridging social capital for lower SES parents could help increase student success (Freeman 2010), more research is needed to help educators understand the potential mechanisms for families to access this capital. In this study, I aimed to provide insights into how parents and teachers could use digital communication to augment and expand families' opportunity for accessing bridging capital in support of student success.

Two research questions guided the study. In Research Question 1, I sought to determine teachers' perceptions of the pros and cons of digital communication for building parent-teacher relationship. This question was important because effective communication between parents and teachers is essential for student success (Lightfoot-Lawrence 2003). Learning how teachers perceive the pros and cons of digital communication could help educators create better systems and practices to minimize the cons and maximize the pros.

In Research Question 2, I sought to assess teachers' perceptions of the increased prevalence of smartphones in terms of impact on digital communication between parents and teachers. This question was relevant especially for lower-SES parents—if teachers perceived smartphones as a benefit, then investing in finding ways for lower-SES parents to access reliable smartphone service could help increase academic success for students from lower-SES families. For both research questions, I sought to compare responses across school type. Comparing teachers' responses across school type was necessary to identify barriers that lower-SES parents might encounter.

Methodology

Data and Participants

I interviewed 16 participants who worked as third-, fourth-, and fifth-grade teachers in the Portland Metropolitan Area. I emailed principals in schools with different neighborhood demographics and asked for permission to contact individual teachers by email to ask them to participate in the study. In addition, I contacted friends and colleagues who worked in education or who had children in elementary school to gain referrals to teachers who might qualify for the study. Initially, I narrowed the scope to fifth-grade teachers in a single school district. However, interest in participating was low. Thus, I modified the study to include teachers from across the Portland Metropolitan Area who taught Grades 3 and 4 in addition to Grade 5. With this expansion, I was able to reach my minimum recruitment goal of 16 teachers: eight from Title I schools and eight from non-Title I schools. Table 2 shows the demographic characteristics of the participants interviewed for this study.

Table 2

Demographics of Participants

	Title I # of <i>n</i> , <i>n</i> = 8	Non-Title I # of <i>n</i> , <i>n</i> = 8
Age		
30-40	3	2
40-50	5	4
50 +	0	2
Gender		
Female	6	6
Male	2	2
Education		
Masters	7	8
Post Masters	1	0
Race		
White	6	8
Black	1	0
Mixed race	1	0
Grade taught		
3rd	1	0
4th	4	3
5th	3	5

Five principals gave permission for me to contact teachers in their schools, producing eight interviews. The remaining eight participants contacted me after hearing

about the study from friends or colleagues. Among the Title I teachers I interviewed, two were men, and one of the men identified as Black. Most of the teachers from Title I schools were aged between 40 and 50, identified as White, and taught fourth grade. One of the Title I teachers was pursuing a doctoral degree in educational leadership. All the teachers from the non-Title I schools identified as White. Two of the non-Title I participants identified as male; the majority of the non-Title I teachers were aged between 40 and 50, and most taught fifth grade. Demographics in a small study like this cannot be used to make any empirical claims; however, a snapshot of participants' characteristics could provide avenues for further inquiry.

Data Analysis

All interview recordings were stored on a password-protected device, transcribed, and uploaded into a cloud-based version of ATLAS.ti, a qualitative data-analysis software package used for managing, organizing, and coding (Atlas, n.d.). I then used a combination of thematic analysis and grounded theory procedures to construct codes, which I collapsed into themes. Some codes derived from themes found in existing literature; however, in addition, I used grounded theory procedures to draw codes from the data themselves. At the first level, I coded each interview line by line separately from the rest of the interviews. This process resulted in 46 individual codes of various frequencies across the entire sample. After initial coding, I grouped my interviews within the two categories of Title I and non-Title I schools so I could seek patterns and compare between the two groups. Coding is the "first step in moving beyond concrete statements in the data, to make analytic interpretations" (Charmaz, 2006, p. 43). Appropriately, the codes came from experiences of the participants themselves but also reflected themes found in existing literature. In the next level of analysis, I drew quotes from each interview that reflected the initial codes and compiled them to find and synthesize patterns and explain larger themes (Charmaz, 2006, p. 57). During this process, I created memos from which stories emerged; I attached the stories to specific themes. I drew on existing literature to help with theoretical coding, looking for "relationships between categories" (Charmaz, 2006, p. 63). In the following section, I report detailed findings based on the interview data.

Findings

From the final coding of the teachers' stories, I began to understand how teachers used digital communication to build and maintain relationship with parents, helping to promote student success. In addition, I learned how digital communication and smartphones could be helpful for lower-SES parents, although barriers persisted. In terms of my two research questions, I learned that despite some gains in access for lower-SES parents, in some cases, teachers felt that inequities were exacerbated by digital communication. The finding show the effectiveness of digital communication for building partnership could be limited if it exacerbates social inequities.

Overall, I found that teachers across school type perceived digital communication to be helpful for building partnership with parents; however, teachers from non-Title I schools consistently said they would use digital communication regularly with all parents, and some parents even started their relationships with teachers through email. In contrast, the Title I teachers mostly said they would initiate relationships with parents by telephone or in person, followed by digital forms of communication. Although a representative comparison was not possible with such a small sample, the responses show important differences could exist in teachers' use of digital communication across school type. Teachers mentioned various pros and cons of digital communication connected with building partnership, including (a) teaming and positive check-ins, (b) asynchronous timing and role validation, (c) partnership pitfalls, and (d) behavior issues and special accommodations. Teachers from both groups indicated digital communication in the form of email was a frequently used mechanism for communicating with parents. One teacher from a non-Title I school noted,

Email is used pretty much every day as far as communicating with parents about troubleshooting things, sending out information—like our weekly calendar I send out via email in addition to a hard copy that I send home with students because I want to make sure that parents are getting multiple opportunities to see that.

On the other hand, compared to non-Title I teachers, Title I teachers said they were more likely to use face-to-face communication; some said they did not use digital communication much at all. Even so, several teachers from Title I schools talked about the increased amount of communication since email had been integrated into communication systems in their schools.

Overwhelmingly, I've had more communication with parents over the last few years of using that [email] than I have in really any of my years teaching, and they'll just respond right away even if it's a quick hey, thanks. I just get a lot more feedback, and it's usually really positive, like, wow, thank you for reminding me. Hey, my kid had a great day at school today. He told me about this. (Title I teacher)

In the next section, in response to the research questions, I describe themes connected with teachers' perceptions of the pros and cons of digital communication (RQ1) and how perceptions varied by school type (RQ1a). In addition, I describe teachers' perceptions of the increased prevalence of smartphones in terms of impact on digital communication (RQ2) and how perceptions varied by school type (RQ2a). I conclude the section with some additional observations emerging from the data that could prompt future research related to digital communication and the home–school relationship.

Research Question 1: Pros and Cons of Digital Communication

- RQ1. What are teachers' perceptions of the pros and cons of digital communication in facilitating parent-teacher relationships?
 - a. Do teachers' perceptions of the pros and cons of digital communication in facilitating parent-teacher relationships vary across school type?

In the first research question, I asked how teachers perceived the pros and cons of digital communication in facilitating parent-teacher partnership. I compared responses across school type. Teachers identified pros of digital communication as the asynchronous timing of digital communication, the ability to send detailed messages regarding behavior, and the ability to make special accommodations. Teachers described how they used digital communication to build partnership and acknowledged that digital communication was particularly useful when it came to addressing behavior and special accommodations.

However, participants acknowledged drawbacks of digital communication. For example, teachers across school type said negative aspects of digital communication were counterproductive in building partnership with parents; however, mentions of negative aspects appeared more frequently in teachers' discussions of digital communication at schools non-Title I schools with more affluent student bodies. Teachers who worked in Title I schools said they used digital communication less frequently, compared to non-Title I teachers, and did not mention many aspects of digital communication that could be potentially harmful to their parent–teacher partnerships. However, these Title I teachers said digital communication could be more helpful if more parents had reliable access and if language barriers could be surmounted. Some of the partnership pitfalls teachers mentioned included trouble with boundaries and miscommunication that could occur because digital communication lacked nuance and tone.

In sum, the cons of digital communication mostly involved the expectations of more privileged parents who interacted with teachers from non-Title I schools and a lack of access attributable to financial barriers, language barriers, or both that could occur in both Title I and non-Title I schools – although the language and financial barriers were mentioned by all Title I teachers and only a few of the non-Title I teachers. In addition, non-Title I teachers did not mention that language or financial barriers were a significant issue, while the Title I teachers expressed these limitations as a significant factor in how they engaged in digital communication. I discuss pros and cons in detail in subsequent paragraphs, including the themes of teaming and positive check-ins, asynchronous timing, partnership pitfalls, and barriers to productive digital communication.

Teaming and positive check-ins. Teachers talked about how digital communication facilitated partnership by building shared goals with parents through a combination of teaming and relationship building. *Teaming* and *relationship building* might seem similar; however, teachers described different strategies and types of interaction, thereby differentiating the two terms. In relationship building, the quality of interaction between parents and teachers was the focus. Teacher or parent might have mentioned some action of the child not necessarily related to academics. For example, teachers might have noted a child's particular interest or noticed the child seemed to be having a good day. Other comments regarding relationship building involved the tone teachers used in their emails and the way they coordinated digital exchanges with face-to-face meetings to build a sense of trust with parents.

In contrast, when teachers described circumstances that qualified as teaming, they were talking about concentrated back-and-forth communications with parents involving shared goals and working together to help children succeed in specific tasks. Teaming or partnership references involved troubleshooting and clarifying assignments and learning outcomes, thus helping kids know that parents and teachers were working together. Concentrated efforts focused on helping kids who were struggling with behavior issues. When teachers talked about teaming, they mentioned "being on the same page" with parents:

Usually, what I ask parents to do, is if we're on the system, to email me and then I'll respond right away because I want the families (for check in and check out), I want them to take responsibility that we're partnering on this and it only works if we're teaming. (Non-Title I teacher)

I go out of my way to create a bond and a relationship with each of my students. That's like my whole philosophy is we're in this together. We got each other's back. (Title I teacher)

All the teachers sought to establish and maintain a partnership with parents. Further, they believed such a partnership was essential to the success of the students involved—they perceived digital communication as a useful tool in facilitating that process. Teachers from all the schools described using multiple digital communication strategies to build relationships. One strategy for building relationships employed across the sample involved a combination of "positive framing" and "positive check-ins." Teachers used positive framing when they were trying to navigate difficult conversation, for example, if they planned to discuss student problems. In addition, they used positive framing as a strategy in setting the tone for building relationships with parents; they sought to initiate a positive experience so that parents would feel invited into conversation. This approach helped set a framework for the interaction and the teaming that would follow.

A positive check-in could be spontaneous or planned; in either case, teachers used the positive check-in approach to maintain the parent-teacher relationship and to encourage ongoing interactions. Further, teachers used positive check-ins to celebrate their students and validate parents' roles in the partnership. In addition, teachers used positive check-ins to encourage parents who might have been having a hard time. For example, as teachers from both groups explained,

When I see the kid doing a good activity or getting an assignment done, I'm like, oh, let's go email dad. So, that brings positives to it, because I don't want to always have negative emails. (Title I teacher)

That's kind of my favorite way to use it, just like a quick sentence about something nice that happened in the classroom. I'll send a longer message, maybe after school, about something that happened good. I try to keep it as positive as possible. (Non-Title I teacher)

Asynchronous timing. Teachers said the asynchronous timing component of

digital communication was more convenient for many parents who were unable to

communicate during regular school hours. Teachers described the importance of

asynchronous timing for fostering effective partnership between parents and teachers.

Teachers said the asynchronous timing of digital communication allowed them the time

they needed for thinking carefully before responding. Teachers noted that the benefit of

thinking carefully about what they were going to say benefited both parents and teachers.

The benefit [of digital communication] is that I think versus a phone call; one, I can be very thoughtful composing an email as opposed to a phone call which has its benefits definitely but I can be more direct but careful and thoughtful in what I want to get across and how I want to do it. And I'm able to follow through with my thoughts because there's no one else on the other side asking or interrupting. And then I also think it gives the benefit to the receiver of the same thing. They're not put on the spot with a phone call or information if it's negative or challenging or whatever it is. Even if it's positive, not always knowing how to react and having time to read it at a time that's convenient. (Non-Title I teacher)

Particularly in this population that we work with, work schedules, parenting schedules, make it difficult to give a phone call or connect with the teacher right on the spot. So, email when it's the most convenient time for them I think would be helpful as well. (Title I teacher)

Role Validation. All the teachers talked about how meaningful it was to have

their role as teacher validated by receiving appreciation from parents. Several of them

described how receiving unexpected digital communications from parents noticing and

appreciating the efforts the teachers made for their children really made their day. In

addition, teachers mentioned they tried to reciprocate with the parents and recognized

that this positive interaction and validation of efforts and roles was an important source of

trust and relationship building that allowed them to work together more successfully. Teachers explained that email helped facilitate these brief exchanges because the messages could happen at their convenience, and the messages could be brief. In addition, because of asynchronous timing, teachers and parents did not have to coordinate when to send and receive these messages.

His mom, from the Caribbean, sent me an email and said thank you for taking care of my baby when I'm not there. She said that you made such—it was a really nice—just a few sentences, but—I knew she was still on her honeymoon. She was legit in the Caribbean, and she sent it to me. So, that was meaningful to me, because it just shows that, yeah. She didn't have to call me. She could just send me a quick note when she was thinking about to say thank you. (Title I teacher)

[It is meaningful] when you have an exchange where you feel like they know that your interest is, like, in the best interest of their kid and you feel the same—like, you feel like you connected and sort of in a way that best supports their child and sort of like that home to school connection is strong. (Non-Title I teacher)

Many of the positive aspects that teachers spoke of regarding digital

communication were integral to building shared goals and partnership with parents. All the teachers emphasized how beneficial it was to student success to have strong partnerships between parents and teachers. Because of their belief in the importance of ongoing communication and partnership, all the teachers made special efforts to respond to digital communication from parents, often outside work hours.

Behaviors and special accommodations. Shared among all the teachers was a perception that digital communication was extremely helpful in working with parents on student behavior issues and special accommodations. Teachers described different approaches, such as positive framing or discussing the particulars in person and then using email to follow up. A few teachers talked about a strategy of sharing a Google Doc with parents to document behavior for kids who were particularly struggling.

That's my number one thing with email, was it helps with behavior, for sure. I've seen it with one kid in particular I'm thinking one of—maybe the hardest kid I've ever had. And it took me a year and a half to finally realize I hadn't even emailed the dad yet. I emailed the dad and he was, like, why didn't you tell me this before? I was like "Oh, I don't know. "He was like, "Just email me every day . . . Anything that happened, just email me." And all of the sudden, the kid was completely different the second day. I'm like, "Oh my gosh! This is so powerful!" That was maybe six or seven years ago. And ever since then, I think about that all the time, like the first day of school, I need to get on every parent to make sure, especially the ones with the biggest behavior problems. (Non-Title I teacher)

Partnership pitfalls. Although teachers noted many benefits from digital

communication related to facilitating partnerships, they also noted issues unique to digital communication, some of which were counterproductive to building strong partnerships. For example, teachers from both school types described miscommunication as a problem in building successful partnerships. In fact, the possibility of miscommunication grew with increased use of digital communication; thus, it seemed to be more problematic in non-Title I schools at which digital communication was more prevalent. Two other pitfalls teachers mentioned were problems with digital communication and problems with building partnership; however, teachers' responses differed by school type. Teachers working in non-Title I schools were more likely to talk about boundaries, specifically, parent expectations leading to an overstepping of boundaries. On the other hand, teachers working in Title I schools were more likely to talk about financial and language barriers that made it hard for parents to access the benefits of digital communication. Miscommunication, boundary issues, and financial and language barriers are described further in the next paragraphs.

Miscommunication. One of the main drawbacks of digital communication that hindered building partnership involved the likelihood of miscommunication made possible by the fact that digital communication lacked tone.

I think emails are easier to misinterpret as a result than phone or face to face. And so it takes me so much time wordsmithing because I want to be really careful that there is no way to misinterpret tone and that's hard. (Non-Title I teacher)

In addition, teachers talked about accidentally replying to everyone with a response they meant to be private or sending digital communication to the wrong person. Teachers shared that such accidents could potentially be damaging to not only the relationship with a particular parent but also to relationships with colleagues and other parents in the community.

I mean, that's one of the worst, where I accidentally sent a response to a parent that was not meant for the parent and then had to $[\ldots]$ one of the worst days of my life. So, I've done that too. That can go on your dangers of email. (Non-Title I teacher)

In an attempt to avoid the problem of miscommunication, teachers in the sample spent a great deal of time constructing digital communication. In addition, they developed strategies to engage in digital communication. Some strategies involved creating rules about the topics they were willing to discuss; for instance, one teacher mentioned she only sent positive digital communication. Another teacher said she would keep her digital communication brief and to the point. Another teacher mentioned that she only used digital communication as a follow-up to an in-person meeting. These strategies show the teachers' sensitivity to the possibility of miscommunication as well as an awareness of the importance of parent-teacher partnership and a desire not to harm that relationship. Boundaries. Regarding aspects of digital communication that could harm the

parent-teacher relationship, many teachers described having issues with lack of

boundaries. Several teachers actually used the phrase, "I find myself answering emails in

bed at night." Teachers talked about the need to create boundaries, but almost all

admitted they did not adhere to the boundaries they set; in fact, they responded or spent

time writing emails in response to parents during time that should have been theirs.

And that workload, outside of 9:00 to 5:00, or for us it's 8:00 to 4:00, was insane, and I didn't know how to buffer that because I always wanted to answer their questions and it took a colleague being, "No, no, you end at 4:00. You're done. It's okay." It's like, "But, but, but—" And she was, "No, you need to set boundaries." Because these parents will email whenever the heck they want to because they can. It's easy. (Non-Title I teacher)

I really like knowing about it before walking in the morning and I'm hit with it. So, I mean I've honestly responded to emails at 11:30 at night on a school night if I'm awake and I check my email one more time. (Title I teacher)

Teachers who said parents did not respect their boundaries said parents'

expectations about response time hindered successful partnership. For example, one

teacher mentioned,

I mean, I love communicating with parents and getting to know them better and helping how I can, but I mean there are some parents that are pretty demanding, like they'll email me at, like, 6:00, 7:00, 8:00, and I coach as well after school, so I mean, like, this week, I have practice 6:00 to 8:00. (Non-Title I teacher)

On the other hand, sometimes students were in crisis. In such cases, the extra time

teachers spent outside of work hours on digital communication stemmed not from parent

expectations but from teachers' need to help their students.

Teachers perceived the time spent on digital communication during their personal

time as an asset. For example, all the teachers in the sample described at least one

exception in which they had set a boundary and then answered digital communication

from parents when they should not have been expected to respond. Further, some teachers acknowledged they knew they should honor their boundaries; however, the communication and relationships they had built with parents through digital communication were so helpful to them in the classroom, they would not consider limiting their response parameters. For example, a teacher described responding to digital communication from a parent while he himself was on vacation in Mexico:

I looked back at our emails and one of them said "Hola from Mexico." I'm writing this parent on my vacation in Mexico. Like, what am I doing? It's not a vacation if I'm still working. But at the same time, it's like I want the parent to feel like I'm there for them no matter what. (Non-Title I teacher)

In sum, loose boundaries represented a potentially helpful component of digital communication when it allowed teachers to trouble-shoot, solve problems, and help parents who needed special accommodations for their children. On the other hand, loose boundaries were problematic for building an effective partnership with parents when teachers perceived parents were not respecting their time. Most of the teachers did not have a structure in place to create solutions that could mitigate boundary problems. One teacher was adamant that she did not respond to digital communication when her work day was over, but even she noted exceptions to this rule, particularly based on students' needs when families were in crisis.

Financial and language barriers. Despite the benefits and potentially harmful aspects of digital communication, teachers noted some cases in which digital communication was potentially beneficial yet unavailable as a tool because of financial and language barriers. Teachers from both types of schools mentioned the difficulty of

ensuring all parents had access to email. Teachers recognized the unfairness inherent in

the different levels of access among the populations they served.

The other thing about email is that it's really not equitable. In this school, it's far more equitable. [Even in our] school, we have pockets of families that don't have computers at home [\ldots] So, you've got a large population of people who have email, and then it's unfair to the people who don't have access. (Non-Title I teacher)

A difficulty is that a lot of parents either have spotty access to technology or don't have any at all. It's not a universal tool. (Title I teacher)

One teacher connected the difference in digital communication specifically to

social class by stating that "elite parents" sometimes used digital communication to

"bully" teachers into accommodating their wishes in the classroom (Non-Title I teacher).

The less money the parents have, the better the email system works. The reason I feel this way is working parents have so much on their plate that email can really facilitate conversations that can't happen on a daily regular basis. The problem with the email system and higher socioeconomic populations is, from my perspective, they have a tendency to use that as a bitching platform; as a way to attack the teacher; as a way to demand their rights; as a way to have freedom of the tongue, where they wouldn't actually tell you. If you work with the more working-class families, or lower economic families, or families from different language backgrounds, it facilitates communication, because if it's a different language barrier, they can at their pace and at their ease, they can understand the conversation through their friends interpreting or vice versa, and for working-class families that are busy, they use it as a tool to basically cut to the chase, okay, sign the report card, get it back to you. (Non-Title I teacher)

In addition, teachers pointed out the difficulties with digital communication

arising from language barriers, although non-Title I teachers did not talk about

encountering these barriers, the Title I schools consistently expressed concern over these

difficulties. One teacher mentioned students spoke four different languages in her

classroom.

Yeah. I would have to have it translated in multiple languages to meet the needs of everyone, and I don't feel that would be very fair for me to send out an all English newsletter or equitable. (Title I teacher)

I don't release information to all my parents at one time through email because some of my parents don't have computers at home. A lot of them don't speak English, so it doesn't make as much sense to use typed English as a primary means of communication. (Title I teacher)

For most of the teachers in the study, email was the primary form of digital communication used for building partnership with parents. However, in some cases teachers mentioned using various apps as a way to connect with parents and keep them engaged in conversation. These apps are a contribution to digital communication unique to smartphones, the subject of Research Question 2.

Research Question 2: Prevalence of Smartphones Impact

- RQ2. What are teachers' perceptions of the increased prevalence of smartphones in terms of impact on digital communication between parents and teachers?
 - a. Do teachers' perceptions of the increased prevalence of smartphones in terms of impact on digital communication between parents and teachers vary across school type?

In the second research question, I asked how teachers perceived the increased prevalence of smartphones in terms of impact on digital communication between parents and teachers. I compared responses across school type. Teachers at Title I and non-Title I schools agreed that smartphones increased access for lower-SES parents and noted that barriers to access persisted for lower-SES parents, in addition to mentioning issues with language barriers. **Smartphone impact**. I asked teachers if the proliferation of smartphones had affected their interaction and partnership with parents. Some of the participants who worked as teachers before smartphones became prevalent mentioned a significant shift with the advent of the smartphone. Other teachers who had entered the field more recently noted that smartphones provided another means of accessing various forms of digital communication. Additionally, several teachers mentioned smartphones not only provided increased access for some parents to use digital communication in the form of email but also provided alternative means of digital communication between teachers and parents in the form of apps—in fact, these apps were sometimes more easily accessed for the parents involved.

I do have parents that almost exclusively email, and I know it's from their phones. And so, I mean I think that maybe families that don't have Internet at home probably email off the phone a lot, because they have the LTE or the 3G or whatever it might be, and with a lot of parents having busy job schedules, they're not always at the computer or jobs where they can, and so I think that it makes it easier for them to at least glance at an email. (Non-Title I teacher)

From my perspective, the smartphone hasn't helped with email communication per se, but it does help with communication because there are other apps and ways of communication—communicating with parents and families that are not necessarily email. (Title I teacher)

For example, one of this teacher's most meaningful stories about digital communication

with parents involved a smartphone app. His story shows the flexibility in type of digital

communication that smartphones could provide:

I have a student who is totally into music. I've known that for a while. He came in one day and told me that [...] one of his goals was to learn a new instrument, and me being a musician, I thought that was kind of cool and loving music the way I do. And so, I decided I was going to use Classroom Dojo to communicate with his parents about a program named Ethos. [...] And I say, "I'm going to pass that along to your parents." And so, obviously the quickest way to do that was to, through Classroom Dojo. So, I just sent a quick message, "We both know

that [...] loves music. He told me that he had a goal of playing an instrument. I just wanted to pass along this information about the Ethos program. This is why I think it'll be great for him. This is why it was great for me as a parent and for my son as a student. You should check it out." The parent responded and said, "Thank you. Really appreciate it. Thank you f or following up and sending this. Thank you for cultivating his passions," etc., so forth, so on. (Title I teacher)

Teachers noted that smartphone proliferation meant everyone had a phone with them all the time; teachers considered this a mixed blessing. The convenience and availability of constant communication resulted in an extension of teachers' work days; they often felt obligated to respond to parents quickly. In addition to the increased workload, teachers found themselves with permeable boundaries and struggled to draw hard lines to preserve their private time. Thus, smartphones could increase access for parents from lower-SES backgrounds; however, they could harm relationships built on digital communication between teachers and higher-SES parents.

Additional Observations

Although teachers in both Title I and non-Title I schools shared similar perspectives and uses of digital communication, some important differences emerged. Teachers in non-Title I schools almost all used multiple forms of digital communication on a regular basis—for example, to send weekly updates and group emails about needs in the classroom or reminders about field trips, in addition to responding individually to parents' emails. The Title I teachers generally had no expectation that parents would be using digital communication to receive general information. Teachers in Title I schools were more likely to use digital communication for clarifications, to follow up on conferences, and to work with parents on students' behavior issues. In addition to the findings mentioned, two other factors seemed to have a significant impact on the efficacy of digital communication as a tool for building parent–teacher partnership—school culture and teacher proficiency. Even within the same demographic group, descriptions of school culture varied from site to site. For example, some Title I teachers had access to efficient translators to help non-English-speaking parents, while other Title I schools had cumbersome translation services that created enough of a barrier that teachers seldom used those services because the process was not equitable.

The other variable found among teachers at both school types was teacher proficiency. Some of the teachers felt uncomfortable with digital communication and described their own lack of skills in navigating the digital world. Others were deeply engaged in technology and expressed comfort and appreciation for digital communication as a useful tool.

I interviewed all the teachers in their own classrooms at the schools where they worked; thus, I saw their classrooms as well as some of the dynamics of the relationships between staff members. I sensed how the dynamics of relationships affected their engagement with digital communication. Some school leaders strongly encouraged teachers to use digital communication in particular ways and with particular frequency; in contrast, other leaders provided consistent support technology but held no expectations about frequency of digital communication. However, across the sample, teachers reported receiving little training on using digital communication to maximize the parent-teacher partnership. Rather, administrators let the teachers themselves decide to what extent and when to integrate digital communication into their partnerships with parents. Teachers' ability to choose their preferred use of digital communication meant teacher proficiency largely determined the ways they used digital communication to facilitate partnerships with parents.

Discussion

Existing research has shown that digital communication could be useful in helping parents and teachers build partnership and work toward shared goals (Olmstead, 2013). Parent–teacher partnership appears to be a particularly effective form of parent participation, correlated with student success (Landeros, 2011; Lareau, 1987, 2015). Communication between parents and teachers that helps students is a type of social capital—resources are available as a function of the relationship (Coleman, 1988). With the addition of digital communication, parents and teachers have another tool to help them build effective strategies, particularly for parents who have schedules that do not allow them to have frequent communication with teachers during school hours or at pickup and drop-off times (Olmstead, 2013). However, to take advantage of this additional tool, parents need digital skills to engage effectively in digital communication with teachers (Rafalow, 2018). Therefore, digital skills represent a form of cultural capital if they allow parents to navigate the institutional practice of communicating effectively with teachers in ways that benefit students (Rafalow, 2018).

The goal of this study was to gain a better understanding of how teachers perceive the pros and cons of digital communication as a tool for helping build partnership with parents to facilitate student success. An additional aim was to determine if the increased prevalence of smartphones as a tool for accessing digital communication could be helpful in creating opportunity for parents from lower-SES backgrounds to build partnerships that would increase student success. Inherent in these questions was the understanding that access to forms of digital communication might be connected to SES location. Therefore, if teachers perceived digital communication as beneficial, and if SES determined access, the tool of digital communication could exacerbate existing inequities among families as a function of parents' ability to use digital communication effectively to work with their children's teachers.

The findings show that teachers found digital communication helpful for building partnership with parents; however, rules and access were critical issues that needed to be addressed for digital communication to be most effective and to avoid exacerbating existing inequities. In terms of the pros of digital communication (RQ1), the themes that emerged from the data most relevant to thinking about pros of digital communication in facilitating partnership for parents and teachers included teaming and positive check-ins, asynchronous timing and role validation, and behavior and special accommodations. These three themes represent relationship elements that could provide a form of bridging social capital—the findings show that a stronger relationship between parents and teachers increases the chances that teachers could be a resource for parents in helping their children succeed in school.

The themes that emerged from the data most relevant to thinking about the cons of digital communication fell into two categories that seemed tied to parent SES. For all teachers, two of the cons discussed were miscommunication and lack of boundaries. These seemed to be most problematic for higher-SES parents. Teachers explained that higher-SES parents communicated much more frequently using digital means. The other two cons teachers described involved accessibility, most often mentioned in relation to lower-SES parents. The two most-often mentioned barriers to successful digital communication with parents were language and financial barriers. For some of the Title I teachers, these two barriers made digital communication with parents very unlikely.

Researchers have noted the importance of participation in the form of parent– teacher communication (Bastiani, 2018; Edwards & Redfern, 2017; Landeros, 2011). Landeros in particular focused on the importance of the parent–teacher partnership. In my study, teachers overwhelmingly agreed that their communication and partnership with parents were critical to students' academic success. Teachers offered strategies for finding agreement and building and maintaining relationships with parents. They expressed willingness to work with parents to discover the best avenues for communication and applied multiple strategies using different forms of digital communication.

In talking about the ways they built partnership with parents, teachers essentially were explaining how they helped parents build a type of cultural capital that would help them increase chances of student success. Researchers have demonstrated that social capital in the form of parent–teacher communication can activate or grant access to forms of cultural capital (Freeman, 2010; Taylor, 2015). Thus, the social capital found in parent–teacher communication could be considered bridging social capital—parent–teacher communication involves gaining new knowledge through a relationship built on

weak ties. Many of the teachers told meaningful stories about digital communication that connected directly with families who were struggling with finances or other limitations. Further, teachers described instances in which they had connected parents to resources. From the teachers' perspectives, it appears that parents who successfully engaged in relationship building with teachers gained access to new habits, language, and skills, thereby creating cultural capital.

Although teachers discussed ways that parents accessed cultural capital through their shared dialogue, they noted inequities in access and language barriers, which presented significant barriers for many parents. Researchers have suggested the proliferation of technology has helped close inequities in access to the Internet (Baym, 2015). However, some scholars have found that a divide persists; access can be problematic for many people from lower-class backgrounds (Gonzales et al., 2018). Consistent with previous research, many of the teachers in this study noted problems with access for many parents. The Title I teachers who worked with larger populations of working-class and low-income parents were most cognizant of this barrier; however, non-Title I teachers also noted problems with digital communication and equity for parents. At the same time, because teachers mentioned holding few formal conferences and because working parents had less opportunity to engage informally at pick-up and dropoff times, teachers said more parents were able to participate in partnership with teachers through digital communication. In addition, school culture and budget priorities influenced how teachers overcame barriers. These tensions revealed the need for more

research into how digital communication could support parents and how school leaders could work to alleviate barriers experienced by lower-SES parents.

I found limited evidence that parents from lower-SES backgrounds used technology to enhance their networks of weak ties, supporting previous findings about how marginalized groups make use of the Internet to harness social capital (Gonzales, 2017). Although my findings indicate the proliferation of smartphones and smartphone apps has increased the overall number of parents who communicate with teachers, across the sample, teachers acknowledged a large number of parents could not fully benefit from technology for a number of reasons. For example, issues persisted with access for parents, and in some cases, issues involved lack of support from schools. Schools that provided more support for teachers in terms of training, access to software, and translation services created a culture wherein parents were more likely to use digital communication with teachers. In particular, smartphone apps seemed to be a useful alternative for many teachers who worked in Title I schools.

Baym (2015) chronicled the higher risk of miscommunication in the digital realm. My findings were consistent with Baym's findings in the sense that one of the main aspects of digital communication potentially harmful to building partnerships involved misunderstandings and difficulty assessing tone. Baym suggested that new forms of digital nonverbal communication have been developing; perhaps some training and proficiency of norms would help alleviate this issue. Because digital communication seems to be increasing, more research is needed to discern how to use digital communication effectively in relationships, particularly in mentoring relationships such as the partnership between parents and teachers.

Limitations and Future Research

Several potential limitations are noted. First, the small sample size could be considered a limitation. However, the small sample sizes generally found in qualitative research have been supported by methodological studies (Guest, Bunce, & Johnson, 2006; Hennick, Kaiser, & Marconi, 2016). Because my sample size was relatively small and selected from a limited area, I cannot generalize the findings to other teachers in other schools. However, many of the themes and concerns are consistent with those found in previous studies (Olmstead, 2013); therefore, the conclusions contribute to evidence supporting the need to strengthen understanding of bridging social capital and the parent–teacher relationship as one source for that type of capital for families from all class backgrounds.

An additional limitation relates to the low diversity among the sample of teachers. Portland has a predominantly White population, particularly in K-12 schools. On the other hand, several teachers worked in relatively diverse school districts, and one teacher worked with parents who spoke several different languages. It could be helpful in future studies to match demographics between parents and teachers to see if demographic characteristics influence participants' email use. However, this would be difficult to do in Portland, Oregon, because the population of teachers in K-12 is predominantly White.

Despite the limitations, the findings nevertheless provide an important foundation for continuing research into how email and smartphones have shaped the social capital forming in relationships between teachers and parents. In addition, focusing on the role of parent-teacher communication as a form of participation represents a fruitful avenue of inquiry regarding how parent participation can contribute to student success.

References

Atlas.ti (n.d) Retrieved October 29, 2018 from https://cloud.atlasti.com/.

- Bassani, C. (2007). Five dimensions of social capital theory as they pertain to youth studies. *Journal of Youth Studies*, *10*(1), 17–34.
- Bastiani, J. (2018). Parents as partners: Genuine progress or empty rhetoric? In P. Munn (Ed.), *Parents and schools: Customers, managers, or partners?* (pp. 101–116). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Baym, N. K. (2015). *Personal connections in the digital age*. Malden, MA: John Wiley & Sons.
- Bennett, S., & Maton, K. (2010). Beyond the 'digital natives' debate: Towards a more nuanced understanding of students' technology experiences. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 26(5), 321–331.
- Castro, M., Expósito-Casas, E., López-Martín, E., Lizasoain, L., Navarro-Asencio, E., & Gaviria, J. L. (2015). Parental involvement on student academic achievement: A meta-analysis. *Educational Research Review*, 14, 33–46.
- Charmaz, K. (2006). *Constructing grounded theory: A practical guide through qualitative research*. London, UK: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Coleman, J. S. (1988). Social capital in the creation of human capital. *American Journal* of Sociology, 94, S95–S120.
- Coleman, J. S. (1993). Parents, their children, and schools. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Cotton, K., & Wikelund, K. R. (1989). Parent involvement in education. *School Improvement Research Series*, 6(3), 17–23.
- Crosby, S. A., Rasinski, T., Padak, N., & Yildirim, K. (2015). A 3-year study of a schoolbased parental involvement program in early literacy. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 108(2), 165–172.
- DiMaggio, P., Hargittai, E., Neuman, W. R., & Robinson, J. P. (2001). Social implications of the Internet. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 27(1), 307–336.
- Domina, T. (2005). Leveling the home advantage: Assessing the effectiveness of parental involvement in elementary school. *Sociology of Education*, 78(3), 233–249.
- Dotterer, A. M., & Wehrspann, E. (2016). Parent involvement and academic outcomes among urban adolescents: Examining the role of school engagement. *Educational Psychology*, 36(4), 812–830.

- Edwards, V., & Redfern, A. (2017). At home in school (1988): Parent participation in primary education. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Finders, M., & Lewis, C. (1994). Why some parents don't come to school. *Educational Leadership*, *51*(8), 50–54.
- Freeman, M. (2010). 'Knowledge is acting': working-class parents' intentional acts of positioning within the discursive practice of involvement. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 23(2), 181-198.
- Gonzales, A. L. (2017). Disadvantaged minorities' use of the Internet to expand their social networks. *Communication Research*, 44(4), 467–486.
- Gonzales, A. L., Calarco, J. M., & Lynch, T. (2018). Technology problems and student achievement gaps: A Validation and extension of the technology maintenance construct. *Communication Research*. doi:10.1177/0093650218796366
- Graham-Clay, S. (2005). Communicating with Parents: Strategies for Teachers. *School Community Journal*, 15(1), 117.
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interview are enough?: An experiment with Data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, *18*(1), 59–82.
- Harris, A., & Goodall, J. (2008). Do parents know they matter? Engaging all parents in learning. *Educational Research*, 50(3), 277–289.
- Hennick, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Marconi, V. C. (2016). Code saturation versus meaning saturation: How many interviews are enough? *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(4), 591–608.
- Horvat, E. M., Weininger, E. B., & Lareau, A. (2003). From social ties to social capital: Class differences in the relations between schools and parent networks. *American Educational Research Journal*, 40(2), 319–351.
- Johnson, J. A., Honnold, J. A., & Threlfall, P. (2011). Impact of social capital on employment and marriage among low-income single mothers. *Journal of Sociology & Social Welfare*, 38(4), 9–31.
- Kraft, M. A., & Rogers, T. (2015). The underutilized potential of teacher-to parent communication: Evidence from a field experiment. *Economics of Education Review*, 47, 49–63.
- Landeros, M. (2011). Defining the 'good mother' and the 'professional teacher': Parent– teacher relationships in an affluent school district. *Gender and Education*, 23(3), 247–262.

- Lareau, A. (1987). Social class differences in family-school relationships: The importance of cultural capital. *Sociology of Education*, *60*(2), 73–85.
- Lareau, A. (2002). Invisible inequality: Social class and childrearing in black families and white families. *American Sociological Review*, 67(5), 747–776.
- Lareau, A. (2015). Cultural knowledge and social inequality. *American Sociological Review*, 80(1), 1–27.
- Lightfoot-Lawrence, S. (2003). *The essential conversation: What parents and teachers can learn from each other*. New York, NY: Random House.
- Lin, N. (2017). Building a network theory of social capital. In N. Lin, K. Cook, & R. S. Burt (Eds.), *Social capital: Theory and research* (pp. 3–28). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Marler, W. (2018). Mobile phones and inequality: Findings, trends, and future directions. *New Media & Society*, 20(9), 3498–3520.
- Mesch, G. S. (2012). Minority status and the use of computer-mediated communication: A test of the social diversification hypothesis. *Communication Research*, *39*(3), 317–337.
- Moroni, S., Dumont, H., Trautwein, U., Niggli, A., & Baeriswyl, F. (2015). The need to distinguish between quantity and quality in research on parental involvement: The example of parental help with homework. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *108*(5), 417–431.
- Nandwani, S., & Khan, S. (2016). Teachers' intention towards the usage of technology: An investigation using UTAUT model. *Journal of Education & Social Sciences*, 4(2), 95–111.
- Natale, K., & Lubniewski, K. (2018). Use of communication and technology among educational professionals and families. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 10(3), 377-384.
- Olmstead, C. (2013). Using technology to increase parent involvement in schools. *TechTrends*, 57(6), 28–37.
- Pearce, K. E., & Rice, R. E. (2013). Digital divides from access to activities: Comparing mobile and personal computer Internet users. *Journal of Communication*, 63(4), 721–744.
- Posey-Maddox, L. (2012). Professionalizing the PTO: Race, class, and shifting norms of parental engagement in a city public school. *American Journal of Education*, 119(2), 235–260.

- Rafalow, M. H. (2018). Disciplining play: digital youth culture as capital at school. *American Journal of Sociology*, *123*(5), 1416–1452.
- Swidler, A. (1986). Culture in action: Symbols and strategies. *American Sociological Review*, *51*(2), 273–286.
- Taylor, S. (2015). Use of role and power in parent-teacher relationships: Perceptions from the parent perspective (Master's thesis). Available from Dissertations and Theses. (Paper no. 2324). doi:10.15760/etd.2321
- Thompson, B. (2008). Characteristics of parent-teacher e-mail communication. *Communication Education*, *57*(2), 201–223.
- Thompson, B. C., Mazer, J. P., & Grady, E. F. (2015). The changing nature of parentteacher communication: Mode selection in the smartphone era. *Communication Education*, 64(2), 187–207.
- Tsetsi, E., & Rains, S. A. (2017). Smartphone internet access and use: Extending the digital divide and usage gap. *Mobile Media & Communication*, 5(3), 239–255.
- Turville, J. (2016). A phenomenology of email in the lives of teachers. In *Proceedings of the Tenth International Conference on Culture, Technology, Communication* (CATAC), 15–17.
- Warschauer, M., Knobel, M., & Stone, L. (2014). Technology and equity in schooling: Deconstructing the digital divide. *Educational Policy*, 18(4), 562–588.
- Wellman, B., Haase, A. Q., Witte, J., & Hampton, K. (2001). Does the Internet increase, decrease, or supplement social capital? Social networks, participation, and community commitment. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 45(3), 436-455.
- Williams, T. T., & Sánchez, B. (2013). Identifying and decreasing barriers to parent involvement for inner-city parents. *Youth & Society*, 45(1), 54–74.
- Yelton, A. (2012). Who are smartphone users? Library Technology Reports, 48(1), 5-8.

Chapter 3: Mother's Social Capital and Shared Goals

Researchers have found that parent participation in school positively affects student academic achievement (Ansari & Gershoff, 2016; Reynolds, Crea, Medina, Degnan, & McRoy, 2015). Parent participation includes communicating from home to school, attending school functions, volunteering in the classroom, attending parent– teacher conferences, helping children with homework, providing extra educational opportunities at home, and participating in school policy decision making (Cotton & Wikelund, 1989). Additionally, many scholars have noted the role of social class in amount and type of parent participation (Coleman, 1988; Farkas, 2003; Lareau & Horvat, 1999; McNeal, 2012). Given that parent involvement is an important contributor to student success, and given the role of social class in parent participation as well as in the disparity of outcomes in education related to social class, a need exists for research focused on the roles of social class and parent participation in education.

In this study, I investigate the level of social capital held by mothers from different class backgrounds as well as the effect of social class on the likelihood that teachers perceived they shared goals with mothers of the children they taught. Shared goals represent a form of cultural capital, made possible by a common understanding between parents and teachers—a sign of compliance with dominant standards of school interaction (Lareau & Horvat, 1999). In this study, I explore the likelihood that parents from different class backgrounds had access to parent participation and cultural capital in the form of shared goals. In addition, I test whether greater social capital explained the differences in teacher perceptions' that mothers shared school goals. This test is important—if mothers from lower-SES backgrounds could access and activate cultural capital from their access to social capital, this ability could help educators make better choices about policy to address socioeconomic inequity in schools, for example, by providing networking resources for low-income parents.

I argue that some forms of cultural capital particularly useful for student academic success are available to and used by parents from all class backgrounds. Further, I argue that social capital could help parents from all class backgrounds access cultural capital in the form of shared goals. I use data from the Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing Study (FFCWS), a longitudinal study containing a rich source of data regarding aspects of social capital (Reichman, Teitler, Garfinkel, & McLanahan, 2001). Because the FFCWS contains data from both mothers and teachers, and because it oversampled for low-income participants, it is uniquely situated for an exploration of the connection between social and cultural capital among mothers from all class backgrounds. The FFCWS data contains many variables corresponding to different forms of social capital, including bonding social capital, which is formed in connections with strong ties, and bridging social capital, which is formed in connections made through weak ties (Johnson, Honnold & Threlfall, 2011).

Bonding Social Capital vs. Bridging Social Capital

Understanding the difference between bonding social capital and bridging social capital is important—some researchers have suggested that certain forms of social capital can facilitate activation of cultural capital (Freeman, 2010). Much of the literature has indicated that only parents from middle- and upper-class families are able to activate

cultural capital in schools (Horvat & Lareau, 1999). However, some researchers have suggested that cultural capital activates in or through the parent-teacher relationship (Freeman, 2010; Taylor, 2015). In essence, the form of social capital available to parents through parent-teacher communication facilitates the acquisition of new knowledge and skills. In the case of parent-teacher communication, the social capital might be defined as a type of bridging social capital, because it is found in a relationship formed by weak ties, as opposed to the strong ties found in bonding social capital (Putnam 2000). However, it may be that in some cases, bonding social capital can also enhance parent access to shared goals.

Bonding social capital is characterized by strong social connections within particular groups (Ellison, Steinfield, & Lampe, 2011; Hawkins & Maurer, 2009; Johnson et al., 2011; Kim, Subramanian, & Kawachi, 2006). In addition, it is associated with maintenance of social status; for individuals in more marginalized and lower-SES groups (Johnson et al., 2011), bonding social capital is often associated with "getting by" and might commonly be represented by neighborhood or kin networks (Adams, Harris, & Jones, 2018; Ellison et al., 2011).

Although bonding social capital can be beneficial in many cases, it has drawbacks for individuals from lower-SES backgrounds, manifesting, for example, in greater obligations toward those with whom strong ties are present as well as in exclusion from higher-SES groups (Coleman, 1988; Goddard, 2003). In terms of obligations, bonding social capital can be a limiting factor for people trying to get ahead because of the amount of time they must spend fulfilling obligations that occur from being members of a closed social group (Adams et al., 2018). Further, social closure by a group in a high-SES neighborhood or by a parent group could exclude lower-SES families, particularly in mixed-SES schools, from taking part in the decision-making processes in their schools (Adams et al., 2018).

Bridging social capital is described in the literature as a form of social capital characterized by weak social ties—that is, ties that are differentiated and outside of close kin networks (Burke, Kraut, & Marlow, 2011; Lancee, 2016; Larsen et al., 2004; Park & Bowman, 2015). Literature on bridging social capital has focused on the resources that become available through this outside connection, showing how those resources can be used to help individuals get ahead (Coffé & Geys, 2007; Johnson et al., 2011). Several researchers have described bridging social capital as the stronger or more beneficial form (Bram, 2016; Hawkins & Maurer, 2009; Larsen et al., 2004). However, some authors have suggested that bonding social capital is an important prerequisite for accessing bridging social capital and that the two forms can work together to create the strongest results (Burke et al., 2011; Park & Barlow, 2015).

Using data from the Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing Study, Johnson et al. (2011) explored the concepts of bonding social capital and bridging social capital more deeply by constructing a social capital scale to integrate measures of bonding social capital and bridging social capital into an index. The goal was to learn more about how social capital works to build more social capital (Johnson et al., 2011). The authors studied the differences between bonding social capital and bridging social capital to show how both forms of social capital worked together to affect outcomes related to marriage and employment for low-income single mothers (Johnson et al., 2011).

Johnson et al. (2011) found women who scored higher on the combination social capital index were "more likely to be married and employed three years after giving birth" (p. 25). In contrast, women who scored higher only on the bonding social capital scale were not "more likely to maintain employment or transition into marriage" (Johnson et al., 2011, p. 25). In sum, Johnson et al. argued that both bridging social capital and bonding social capital, as represented in the combined index, were necessary for social capital to help low-income women effectively "get ahead" and achieve their goals (Hawkins & Maurer, 2009; Lancee, 2016; Larsen et al., 2004). In this study I use the social capital scale developed by Johnson et al. (2011) as a foundation for constructing a scale to measure bonding social capital.

Current Study

In this study, I investigate the relationship between SES, bonding social capital, and teacher perception of shared goals, which represent a form of cultural capital. I focus on the data specifically from mothers and teachers for this study because research has shown that mothers are more often the primary parent who interacts with children's teachers in elementary school (Landeros, 2011; Lightfoot-Lawrence, 2003; Taylor, 2015). The purpose of this study is to answer a call for research specifically focused on particular types of social capital. In addition, I seek to explore how bonding social capital might function to help participants gain access to a form of cultural capital—in this case, teachers' perceptions of goals shared between parents and schools. In the study, I construct an index to measure elements of bonding social capital and test whether it mediates the relationship between SES and teacher perception of shared goals, a form of cultural capital.

Two research questions guide the study:

- 1. Are higher-SES mothers more likely to be perceived by teachers as sharing goals with the school?
- 2. If yes, does bonding social capital mediate the effects of SES on teacher perception that mothers share goals with the school?

Data and Subset

The Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing Study (FFCWS) is a longitudinal study that has followed a birth cohort of 4,898 children born in urban areas in the United States between 1998 and 2000 (Reichman, Teitler, Garfinkel, & McLanahan, 2001). The FFCWS study was conducted with a predominantly low-income, minority sample that has been followed for the last 20 years (year 15 data were recently published; FFCWS, n.d.). Children born to unmarried parents were oversampled by almost a 3:1 ratio; cities were selected to provide representative data for U.S. cities of 200,000 or more people (Reichman et. al, 2001). The core study consisted of interviews with mothers, fathers, or primary caregivers gathered within 48 hours of birth or soon after, followed by additional interviews when children were one, three, five, nine, and 15. Approvals to conduct the interviews were obtained from both the Princeton University Institutional Review Board and the individual hospitals (birth year; Reichman et al., 2001).

The analytical sample for this study combines teacher, parent, and child data from the nine-year follow-up study, in addition to baseline demographic information. Of the original 4,898 cases, I dropped 2,661 cases in which the dependent variable had missing data from half of the teachers originally surveyed. Because my social capital measures were connected specifically with resources available to mothers, and because the data came from the mother-focused follow-up survey, I focus on the social capital of the mother specifically. Additionally, I dropped 28 cases with missing social capital index variables. Because I focus on maternal resources, I dropped 56 cases in which the child did not live with the mother full-time. I dropped 759 cases in which fathers attended school conferences; my intention was to focus on the connection between teachers and mothers. Finally, I dropped 54 cases with missing demographic variables. The final analytical sample is N = 1,340.

Measures

Dependent Variable: Shared Goals (Cultural Capital)

A question in the nine-year survey asked teachers whether they perceived shared goals between themselves and parents. The question was "How much do you feel the child's parents/guardian have the same goals for their child that the school does?" and possible responses were: not at all, a little, somewhat, a lot, or a great deal. Because of small cell size, I collapsed my dependent variable from ordinal to binary and recoded the variable to combine the top two categories; thus, *a lot* and *a great deal* = 1, and the bottom three categories *not at all, a little, and somewhat* = 0. In determining where to split the responses, I rely on previous research measuring the efficacy of trust within parent–teacher relationships. For example, Adams and Christenson (2000) described the category of *medium trust* (which I equated with the category *somewhat*) to be fraught with defensive posturing and uncertain trustworthiness. In other words, the lack of trust

and defensiveness made developing shared goals problematic. Consequently, I determined the category of *somewhat* was not conducive to the cultural capital found in shared goals.

Independent Variables

SES: Income and education. Previous researchers have used income and education to measure socioeconomic status and job prestige (Benner, Boyle, & Sadler, 2016; Lareau, 1987; Lareau & Horvat, 1999). In this study, I include variables for mother's household income at the nine-year follow-up as well as education at baseline. Specific jobs were not reported in a way that allowed me to measure prestige; however, the income and education variables serve as proxies for SES.

The FFCWS all-waves version of the dataset contains constructed variables for annual household income and education. I recoded the constructed variable for annual income to match the six ranges given as a choice in the study questionnaire. Income ranges were coded as 1 = less than or equal to \$10,000; 2 = \$10,001 to \$20,000; 3 = \$20,001 to \$30,000; 4 = \$30,001 to \$40,000; 5 = \$40,001 to \$60,000; and 6 = greater than \$60,000. The constructed variable for education was broken into four categories. I recoded them to match so that 1 = less than high school, 2 = high school or GED, 3 = some college, and 4 = four-year degree or more.

Bonding social capital index. I use the social capital index models created by Johnson et al. (2011) as a foundation for constructing my own scale to measure social capital. In their study, Johnson et al. tested whether a bonding social capital index and a combination bonding social capital and bridging social capital index increased the

chances that low-income mothers got married or found stable employment. In my analytical sample, the measures that Johnson et al. (2011) used were not all available, because not all mothers in my sample answered the questions and because my sample included mothers from all income groups; in contrast, the Johnson et al. study focused on low-income mothers. However, building on their concept, I construct a scale to measure social capital. Although Johnson et al. described their index as a combination of bridging social capital and bonding social capital, the index I construct uses variables measuring bonding social capital only. In much of the research, bridging social capital is seen to have higher value because it grants users access to a diverse set of weak ties and new sources of knowledge (Lancee, 2016). However, in the relationship between parents and teachers, it may be that bonding social capital can actually help mothers access a specific type of cultural capital, in the form of shared goals with their children's teachers. One reason that bonding social capital might help in the context of parent-teacher relationships is that bonding social capital could provide the stability and back-up a mother needs in order to take the time to build a relationship with her child's teacher. If bonding social capital is shown to have a positive relationship with teacher perception of shared goals, this study could be an important step in helping to understand ways that bonding social capital can lead to other forms of capital.

The measures used for the bonding social capital index comprised five questions, four of which Johnson et al. (2011) used. The measures corresponded to questions in the FFCWS linked to childcare, housing, and a small loan. In the first question, mothers were asked if there was "someone you could count on to help with emergency childcare." This question represented a measure of bonding social capital because access to childcare is a function of a close relationship that requires trust; further, childcare itself is a resource that helps mothers "get by," a requirement of bonding social capital (Poortinga, 2006). I coded the variable for this question 1 = yes and 0 = no. The second question I used for constructing the bonding social capital index was "Could you count on someone if you needed a place to live?" Similar to the question connected to emergency childcare, this question represented a strong tie that requires trust and helps mothers get by. I coded the variable 1 = yes and 0 = no. The third question used to construct the bonding social capital index was "Is there someone you could count on to loan you \$200?" This measure represented access to a resource through a strong or close relationship, thus representing strength of bonding social capital. I coded the variable 1 = yes and 0 = no. I added a fourth question: "Could you count on someone to cosign a loan for \$1,000?" to assess a level of trust, for example, whether the mothers could access people who would risk their credit scores by cosigning a loan. I added a final question to the combined social capital index: "Could you count on someone to help pay for activities for your child?" This question represented access to strong-tie connections through relationship. Reliability testing using these five measures resulted in a Cronbach's alpha of .73. I computed a new variable for the index using the SUM function with a range of 0 to 5.

Method

In this study I seek to assess whether differences existed in teachers' perceptions of shared goals for parents from different SES backgrounds. First, I test for income and education differences in the distributions of teachers' perceptions of shared goals using a chi-square test for both SES measures. This test shows whether differences exist in how teachers perceived shared goals related to SES background before controlling for other factors. Next, I conduct multivariate models. To investigate whether teachers were more likely to perceive that mothers with higher-SES share goals with the school, I estimate logistic regression models predicting teacher' perceptions of shared goals with mothers' reported income and education. To test whether bonding social capital mediates any relationship between teachers' perceptions of shared goals and mothers' SES, I estimate logistic regression models predicting teachers' perceptions of shared goals with mothers' social capital. Next, I calculate the predicted probabilities for teachers' perceptions that mothers shared goals with the school in both models and compare the difference between lowest and highest probabilities for both income and education across both models.

Logistic regression presents difficulties during interpretation because of the presence of unobserved heterogeneity (Mood, 2010). Because variables that are not accounted for can affect results whether or not they correlate with other independent variables, care must be given to interpreting the results for logistic regression, particularly when comparing across models (Mood, 2010). In this case, I could not compare coefficients reliably across models; thus, the odds ratios I report are only reliable to show direction of effect contained within each individual model (Mood, 2010). To look for possible mediation and compare across models, I estimate the predicted probabilities of teachers agreeing that they and mothers "shared goals" by each level of income and education before and after controlling for social capital. I expect any differences in these predicted probabilities between models to illuminate whether any impact of mother's

income and education can be attributed to mothers' social capital. In both models, I control for marital status reported during the baseline study, the sex of the focal child, and the race/ethnicity of the mother.

Results

Most of the mothers in the study were unmarried during the baseline interviews, more than 50% identified as Black non-Hispanic, approximately 20% identified as White non-Hispanic, and 24% identified as Hispanic; 3% chose Other. Table 3 shows the descriptive statistics of the sample.

Approximately 33% of the mothers in the sample reported having less than a high school education during the baseline study, 34% reported having completed a high school diploma or a GED, and 27% reported having attended some college. In contrast, only 6% of mothers reported having completed a four-year degree or higher during the baseline study.

A majority of mothers in the study reported an annual household income of less than \$40,000; the most frequently reported annual income category was \$10,000 to \$20,000. Approximately 15% reported an annual income of between \$40,000 and \$60,000, and 15% reported an annual income of more than \$60,000. In the lower income brackets, approximately 18% of mothers reported an annual income of less than \$10,000, 21% of mothers reported an income of \$10,000 to \$20,000, 17% reported an income of \$20,000 to \$30,000, and 14% reported an income of \$30,000 to \$40,000.

The mean score for the combined index was 3.87 with a range of 0 to 5. Almost 55% of mothers in the sample indicated that they could count on someone to cosign a

loan for \$1,000. Approximately 75% of mothers indicated they could count on someone to help them pay for activities for their child that they could not afford. Results of descriptive statistical analysis show that a majority of the mothers in the study had access to these types of bonding social capital, regardless of their SES.

Table 3

	Mean	SD	Range
Married	0.19		(0,1)
Unmarried (ref)	0.81*		(0,1)
Female child	0.49		(0,1)
Male child (ref)	0.51*		(0,1)
Race/ethnicity			
White/non-Hispanic	0.19		(0,1)
Black/non-Hispanic	0.54*		(0,1)
Hispanic	0.24		(0,1)
Other	0.03		(0,1)
Education	2.1	0.92	(1,4)
Less than HS (ref)	0.33		(0,1)
HS/GED	0.34*		(0,1)
Some college	0.27		(0,1)
4-year degree+	0.06		(0,1)
Annual income	3.34	1.71	(1,6)
Less than \$10K (ref)	0.18		(0,1)
\$10-\$20K	0.21*		(0,1)
\$20-\$30K	0.17		(0,1)
\$30-\$40K	0.14		(0,1)
\$40-\$60K	0.15		(0,1)

Descriptive Statistics for Analytic Sample

Greater than \$60K	0.15		(0,1)
Social capital index	3.87	1.38	(0,5)

N = 1,340; *Modal category; (ref) = reference category for logistic regression

Table 4 shows differences by mothers' household income in teachers' perceptions of shared goals. The chi-square test, a test of nonindependence, proves to be significant (p < .001). Mothers who reported higher household income are more likely to be perceived by teachers as having shared goals. As the annual income reported by mothers' increases, the difference between the top and bottom category for teachers' perceptions grows. For mothers in the lowest income bracket, 7% of teachers responded *not at all* to the question about whether they believed mothers shared goals with the school. In contrast, 26% responded *a great deal* when asked whether mothers shared goals with the school. For mothers in the highest income bracket, only 1% of teachers responded *not at all* to the question of whether mothers shared goals with the school; 46% responded *a great deal* to the question of shared goals. Notably, teachers perceived at least half of all mothers as sharing goals with the school *a lot* or *a great deal*, regardless of income. Table 4

Shared Goals	<\$10K	\$10-20K	\$20-30K	\$30-40K	\$40-60K	\$60K+
Not at all	7%	4%	7%	3%	2%	1%
A little	14%	12%	11%	5%	10%	3%
Somewhat	23%	29%	19%	24%	22%	17%
A lot	30%	30%	35%	33%	34%	33%

Bivariate Analysis: Income

A great deal	26%	25%	29%	35%	32%	46%
Chi-square = 68.3	88 (<i>p</i> < .001).					

Table 5 shows bivariate analysis results using mothers' level of education, indicating whether teachers perceived mothers as sharing goals with the school. In terms of the education reported at baseline, the test proves significant (p < .001). The largest difference in teachers' perceptions appears for mothers with four-year degrees or higher—79% of teachers perceived mothers with four-year degrees or higher as having shared goals with the teachers *a lot* or *a great deal*.

Table 5

Shared Goals	Less than HS	HS/GED	Some College	4-year degree+
Not at all	6%	4%	2%	1%
A little	15%	9%	5%	1%
Somewhat	27%	25%	19%	7%
A lot	30%	32%	34%	34%
A great deal	22%	30%	40%	57%
Chi-square = 90.5	55 (<i>p</i> < .001).			

Bivariate Analysis: Education

As the level of reported education increases, the gap between the percentage of teachers reporting the top and bottom categories grows. For mothers who reported less than a high school education at baseline, 6% of teachers responded *not at all* to the question of whether mothers shared goals with the school. In contrast, 22% responded

a great deal to the question about whether mothers shared goals with the school. For mothers with four-year degrees or higher, 1% of the teachers responded *not at all* to the question about sharing goals with the school; 56% responded *a great deal*. However, 52% of teachers perceived mothers with less than a high school education as having shared goals, showing that many mothers had access to the cultural capital found in shared goals, regardless of education.

Table 6 shows results from a logistic regression analysis. Model 1 includes the control variables and variables for socioeconomic status. Model 2 adds the bonding social capital index. In Model 1 – relative to unmarried mothers, mothers who had a male child, mothers with less than a high school education and mothers with an annual income of less than \$10K – being married at baseline, having a female child, and the SES variables of education and income categories of \$30,000 to \$40,000 and greater than \$60,000 were significantly positively related to teachers' perceptions of shared goals with mothers. Results in Model 1 show that the education variable is significantly related across all categories; however, the income variable is only significantly related in two of the six categories. This finding shows the relationship between teachers' perceptions of shared goals and SES is more closely related to the education variable rather than to a combination of income and education.

In Model 2, the statistical significance of education for the categories of high school diploma/GED, some college, and four-year degree or more remain the same as in Model 1. In contrast, the categories of household income from \$30,000 to \$40,000 and

greater than \$60,000 are no longer statistically significant. Most notably, the bonding social capital index shows significance for positive effects (p < .005).

Table 6

	Model 1		Model 2	
	Exp(B)	(SE)	Exp(B)	(SE)
Married	1.69*	(0.20)	1.71**	(0.20)
Not married (ref)				
Race/Ethnicity:				
White/non-Hispanic (ref)				
Black/non-Hispanic	1.07	(0.17)	1.109	(0.17)
Hispanic	1.07	(0.19)	1.10	(0.19)
Other	0.48†	(0.39)	0.47†	(0.39)
Female child	1.36*	(0.12)	1.33*	(0.12)
Male child (ref)				
	Socioeconomic	variables		
Education				
Less than high school (ref)				
HS diploma/GED	1.4*	(0.14)	1.39*	(0.15)
Some college	2.2***	(0.16)	2.12***	(0.17)
4-year degree+	5.6***	(0.41)	5.34***	(0.41)
Annual income				
Less than \$10K (ref)				
\$10,001-\$20K	0.93	(0.18)	0.88	(0.18)
\$20,001-\$30K	1.23	(0.19)	1.16	(0.20)
\$30,001-\$40K	1.43†	(0.21)	1.32	(0.21)
\$40,001-\$60K	1.08	(0.24)	0.97	(0.21)
Greater than \$60K	1.70**	(0.24)	1.38	(0.24)
Bonding social capital index			1.14*	(0.04)
Constant	0.78		0.51	
Pseudo r-square	0.075		0.081	

Odds Ratios for Logistic Regression Models Predicting Teacher Perception that Mothers Share School Goals

 $\dagger p < 0.1, *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001.$

Being married at baseline, education at baseline, and having a female child continue to show positive effects. After controlling for marital status at baseline, race/ethnicity, child sex, education, and income, I find that for each increase of mother's social capital index, mothers are 1.14 times more likely to be perceived by teachers as sharing goals with the school.

Once I controlled for social capital in Model 2, both categories of household income that were statistically significant in Model 1 are no longer statistically significantly different. This change indicates that the effect of income on teacher perception might be mediated by bonding social capital. However, comparisons across models when using logistic regression can be problematic because effects can change after adding new independent variables depending on variables not included in either model; thus, relationships cannot be deduced by comparing coefficients (Mood, 2010).

To test if mediation is actually occurring, I calculate predicted probabilities for the predictor variables measuring SES in both models, using the following equation: Probability = Exp(A + B(X))/1 + Exp(A + B(X)). Table 7 shows the predicted probability results by category for the variables of both education and income. In each case, I use the value attached to modal categories to account for other variables. In addition, I report the difference in spread between the predicted probabilities for the categories of education and income in each model and the calculated difference in spread between models. Results show no difference in spread between the highest and lowest categories of the education variable when comparing across models, suggesting that bonding social capital does not mediate the relationship between education and teacher perception of shared goals. For the income variable, the spread between the highest and lowest categories did decrease slightly though not enough to argue that the impact of annual income is being mediated by boding social capital.

Overall, this finding indicates that the presence of bonding social capital does not mediate the relationship between SES and teachers' perceptions that mothers shared goals with the school. Instead, the presence of bonding social capital has a unique and positive relationship with teachers' perceptions that mothers shared goals with the school. Table 7

	Model 1	Model 2
Education		
Less than HS	.42	.33
HS/GED	.52	.40
Some college	.63	.51
4-year degree+	.81	.72
Difference in spread	0.39	0.39
Change in difference	0.0	
Annual income		
Less than \$10K	.54	.43
\$10,001-\$20K	.52	.40
\$20,001-\$30K	.59	.47
\$30,001-\$40K	.63	.42
\$40,001-\$60K	.56	.43
Greater than \$60K	.65	.51

Predicted Probabilities for Teachers Perceptions that Mothers will Share Goals with the School

Difference in spread	0.11	0.08
Change in difference	0.03	

Discussion

Past research has been limited in terms of how social capital functions for parents from low-SES and marginalized backgrounds (Bassani, 2007; Gonzales, 2017). In fact, researchers have focused on the highly visible impact of higher-SES parents, especially in the context of higher-SES parents having greater influence on school policy and curriculum; disadvantages for lower-class parents are implied (Coleman, 1988; Horvat et al., 2003). Fewer researchers have focused on how lower-SES parents have used social and cultural capital; however, some research has shown that lower-SES parents do have access to these forms of capital (Freeman, 2011; Taylor, 2015).

In response, scholars have called for more research to examine how social capital works on a broader scale by focusing on specific dimensions of the theory and by exploring how different groups use social capital (Bassani, 2007; Johnson et al., 2011). By using the Fragile Families & Child Wellbeing Study dataset, I took advantage of the unique way in which the FFCWS data documented the family/school relationship from both teacher and parent perspectives. In addition, the FFCWS data included the social resources available for parents from a broader perspective. This scope allowed me to examine the relationship between bonding social capital and cultural capital and gain a deeper understanding of how parents from lower-SES backgrounds used social capital in their relationships with their children's schools.

The findings lead me to question the assumption made by many scholars that bridging social capital is more valuable for "getting ahead." In some contexts, bonding social capital alone may actually increase access to cultural capital. This study is important for bringing attention to the relationship between bonding social capital and access to a form of cultural capital found in shared goals between teachers and parents. When teachers perceive that parents share goals with the school, working together for children's academic success could become easier.

Consistent with existing research, I find that higher-SES mothers are more likely to have cultural capital in the form of shared goals with teachers. For the different measures, education level at baseline seems to be the most important component of SES for predicting shared goals. However, mothers from all income and education levels have access to cultural capital in the form of shared goals; thus, the findings provide nuance to some of the research that has focused primarily on the cultural capital of parents from higher-SES backgrounds (Coleman, 1988; Horvat et al., 2003; Lareau, 1987).

I selected questions from the FFCWS based on their capacity to measure bonding social capital. The responses showed that bonding social capital could increase the likelihood that teachers will perceive mothers as having shared goals, a type of cultural capital. Results of a logistic regression support the finding that teachers are more likely to perceive higher-SES mothers as sharing goals, compared to mothers with lower-SES. In the first regression model, after controlling for marital status, race, and gender of the child, teachers are more likely to perceive mothers as sharing goals with the school when mothers have higher levels of education during the baseline study and higher levels of

annual income in the nine-year follow-up. This finding is consistent with literature reporting the important positive effects of social capital for high-SES parents (Coleman, 1988; Horvat et al., 2003). However, the significance of income does not hold up in the second model.

Limitations and Future Research

Some limitations affected this study. First, the FFCWS data oversampled for participants from low-income and marginalized backgrounds; therefore, the data might not accurately represent some communities. In my analysis, the fact that I had to collapse my dependent variable likely led to the loss of some nuances within the data; however, the richness of the dataset provided a viable way to study bridging and bonding capital in more depth. An additional limitation in my analysis was the imprecision of using probability to test for mediation.

Further, by focusing on the mothers in this study, I ignored contributions that could come from examining the father data. In my analytical sample, the fathers were not as present as were the mothers for the focal children; therefore, including father data would have decreased the sample size significantly. However, future researchers should examine the role of fathers' social capital to discern how it contributes to the academic success of their children.

Finally, although the findings of this study add to a growing body of work on how social capital works for families from all class backgrounds, much more research is needed. Although this study is not focused on race, in light of the current political climate, it seems particularly important to explore possible negative effects that could emerge regarding mothers identifying as Other in response to the question about race/ethnicity. Future researchers should seek to discover if language barriers are present and to identify ways to address limited access to bridging social capital for families who do not identify as members of the dominant culture.

References

- Adams, D., Harris, A., & Jones, M. S. (2018). Teacher-parent collaboration for an inclusive classroom: Success for every child. MOJES: *Malaysian Online Journal* of Educational Sciences, 4(3), 58–72.
- Adams, K. S., & Christenson, S. L. (2000). Trust and the family–school relationship examination of parent–teacher differences in elementary and secondary grades. *Journal of School Psychology*, 38(5), 477–497.
- Ansari, A., & Gershoff, E. (2016). Parent involvement in head start and children's development: Indirect effects through parenting. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 78(2), 562–579.
- Bassani, C. (2007). Five dimensions of social capital theory as they pertain to youth studies. *Journal of Youth Studies*, *10*(1), 17–34.
- Bastiani, J. (2018). Parents as partners: genuine progress or empty rhetoric? In P. Munn (Ed.), *Parents and schools: Customers, managers, or partners?* (pp. 101–116). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Benner, A. D., Boyle, A. E., & Sadler, S. (2016). Parental involvement and adolescents' educational success: The roles of prior achievement and socioeconomic status. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 45(6), 1053–1064.
- Bourdieu, P. (2011). The forms of capital (1986). In I. Szeman & T. Kaposy (Eds.), *Cultural theory: An anthology* (pp. 81–93). Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons.
- Burke, M., Kraut, R., & Marlow, C. (2011). Social capital on Facebook: Differentiating uses and users. In Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, 571–580.
- Coffé, H., & Geys, B. (2007). Toward an empirical characterization of bridging and bonding social capital. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, *36*(1), 121–139.
- Coleman, J. S. (1987). Families and schools. *Educational Researcher*, 16(6), 32–38.
- Coleman, J. S. (1988). Social Capital in the Creation of Human Capital. *American Journal of Sociology*, 94(supplement), S95–S120.
- Cotton, K., & Wikelund, K. R. (1989). Parent involvement in education. *School Improvement Research Series*, 6(3), 17–23.

- Ellison, N. B., Steinfield, C., & Lampe, C. (2011). Connection strategies: Social capital implications of Facebook-enabled communication practices. *New Media & Society*, *13*(6), 873–892.
- Farkas, G. (1996). *Human capital or cultural capital? Ethnicity and poverty groups in an urban school district*. New York, NY: Walter de Gruyter, Inc.
- Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing Study (FFCWS) (n.d.) retrieved Jun 15, 2019 from https://fragilefamilies.princeton.edu/
- Freeman, M. (2010). 'Knowledge is acting': working-class parents' intentional acts of positioning within the discursive practice of involvement. International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education, 23(2), 181-198.
- Goddard, R. D. (2003). Relational networks, social trust, and norms: A social capital perspective on students' chances of academic success. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 25(1), 59–74.
- Hawkins, R. L., & Maurer, K. (2009). Bonding, bridging and linking: how social capital operated in New Orleans following Hurricane Katrina. *British Journal of Social Work*, 40(6), 1777–1793.
- Horvat, E. M., Weininger, E. B., & Lareau, A. (2003). From social ties to social capital: Class differences in the relations between schools and parent networks. *American Educational Research Journal*, 40(2), 319–351.
- Johnson, J. A., Honnold, J. A., & Threlfall, P. (2011). Impact of social capital on employment and marriage among low-income single mothers. *Journal of Sociology & Social Welfare*, 38(4), 9–31.
- Kim, D., Subramanian, S. V., & Kawachi, I. (2006). Bonding versus bridging social capital and their associations with self-rated health: a multilevel analysis of 40 US communities. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 60(2), 116–122.
- Lancee, B. (2016). Job search methods and immigrant earnings: A longitudinal analysis of the role of bridging social capital. *Ethnicities*, *16*(3), 349–367.
- Lareau, A. (1987). Social class differences in family-school relationships: The importance of cultural capital. *Sociology of Education*, 60(2), 73–85.
- Lareau, A, & Horvat, E. M. (1999). Moments of social inclusion and exclusion race, class, and cultural capital in family-school relationships. *Sociology of Education*, 37–53.

- Larsen, L., Harlan, S. L., Bolin, B., Hackett, E. J., Hope, D., Kirby, A., Wolf, S. (2004). Bonding and bridging: Understanding the relationship between social capital and civic action. *Journal of Planning Education and Research*, 24(1), 64–77.
- Lightfoot-Lawrence, S. (2003). *The essential conversation: What parents and teachers can learn from each other*. New York, NY: Random House.
- McNeal, R. B., Jr. (2012). Checking in or checking out? Investigating the parent involvement reactive hypothesis. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *105*(2), 79–89.
- Mood, C. (2010). Logistic regression: Why we cannot do what we think we can do, and what we can do about it. *European Sociological Review*, 26(1), 67-82.
- Moschetti, R. V., Plunkett, S. W., Efrat, R., & Yomtov, D. (2018). Peer mentoring as social capital for Latina/o college students at a Hispanic-serving institution. *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education*, 17(4), 375–392.
- Park, J. J., & Bowman, N. A. (2015). Religion as bridging or bonding social capital: Race, religion, and cross-racial interaction for college students. *Sociology of Education*, 88(1), 20–37.
- Poortinga, W. (2006). Social relations or social capital? Individual and community health effects of bonding social capital. *Social Science & Medicine*, 63(1), 255–270.
- Portes, A. (1998). Social capital: Its origins and applications in modern sociology. *Annual Review of Sociology* 24 (1), 1–24.
- Reichman, N. E., Teitler, J. O., Garfinkel, I., & McLanahan, S. S. (2001). Fragile families: Sample and design. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 23(4/5), 303– 326.
- Reynolds, A. D., Crea, T. M., Medina, J., Degnan, E., & McRoy, R. (2015). A mixedmethods case study of parent involvement in an urban high school serving minority students. *Urban Education*, 50(6), 750–775.
- Taylor, S. (2015). Use of role and power in parent-teacher relationships: Perceptions from the parent perspective (Master's thesis). Available from Dissertations and Theses. (Paper no. 2324). doi:10.15760/etd.2321Warschauer, M. (2003). Social capital and access. Universal access in the Information Society, 2(4), 315–330.

Chapter 4: Belonging and Teacher Perception of Grit

Grit, defined as persistence and passion for long term goals, has emerged as an important trait for success (Duckworth, Peterson, Matthews, & Kelly, 2007) Recent research has shown that grit is an important contributor to academic achievement (Christensen & Knezek, 2014), particularly for students from marginalized backgrounds (Strayhorn, 2014). The relationship between grit and belonging has been studied in multiple educational contexts, particularly in higher education (Becker, Schelbe, Roman, & Spinelli, 2017; Nora, 2004). At the elementary-school level, the relationship between belonging and grit has not been as highly documented. More research is needed on the relationship between grit and belonging because elementary school is the foundation for future success in school (Benner et al., 2016).

In this study, I investigate the level of grit reported by teachers for children from different class backgrounds as well as the effect of child-reported sense of belonging on teachers' perceptions that the children exhibited grit. Belonging represents social resources transformed into social capital (Bassani, 2007), made possible by "mutual acknowledgment and connection to others" (Lin, 2017, p. 5). In the study, I explore the relationship between social class, child reported sense of belonging and teacher perception of grit. I test whether teachers are more likely to perceive higher-SES children as exhibiting grit relative to lower-SES children. In addition, I test whether higher levels of belonging explain any differences in teachers' perceptions that children exhibited grit. This is important—if children from lower-SES backgrounds show higher levels of grit from feeling a greater sense of belonging, this finding could justify directing

more resources toward helping children feel a stronger sense of belonging as one way of addressing inequality in schools.

I argue that belonging acts as a form of social capital for children in the context of school, and further, I claim that children from all class backgrounds can access belonging as a form of social capital. I use data from the Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing Study (FFCWS), a longitudinal study that provides a rich source of data related to child well-being. Because the FFCWS nine-year follow-up contains data from children, parents, and teachers, and because it oversampled for low-income participants, the FFCWS gives me a unique opportunity to explore the connection between sense of belonging and grit for children from all class backgrounds.

In the study, I use a teacher-reported measure for child persistence in completing tasks, which researchers have considered an important component of grit and a noncognitive skill that could be valuable in the context of education (Lareau, 2015). Measuring grit in this way and testing predictors of social class and child-reported sense of belonging provide a quantitative mechanism for documenting the relationship between social class, sense of belonging, and grit. Thus, one way this study contributes to existing literature is by offering a way to operationalize students' "grittiness" from a teacher perspective.

Grit

Authors have primarily defined *grit* as consisting of a combination of two components—persistence and passion for longterm goals (Duckworth, Peterson, Matthews, & Kelly, 2007) or consistency of interest (Akos & Kretchmar, 2017; Bowman et al., 2015; Weisskirch 2018). Researchers measuring grit have emphasized that persistence is the most salient aspect of grit when measuring correlation between grit and academic achievement (Bowman et al., 2015, Lareau, 2015), sense of belonging and selfesteem (Weisskirch, 2018), and noncognitive predictors of academic success (Akos & Kretchmar, 2017). For example, Weisskirch (2018) found that a higher level of belonging and self-esteem contributed to higher levels of perseverance and greater likelihood that college students would feel confident about their ability to do well in their courses (p. 25).

In measuring grit, some scholars have relied on self-reported measures of perseverance; however, some critics have considered self-reported measures a limitation because individuals often over- or underestimate their own abilities to persevere in completion of goals (Akos & Kretchmar, 2017). In response to this limitation, Akos and Kretchmar suggested that researchers use external measures for evaluating persistence. In the case of students in elementary school, their teachers are well positioned to act as external evaluators of children's grit.

Belonging and Grit

Educators have applied their understanding of the important connections between belonging and grit to create programs aimed at helping college students, particularly those with less cultural and social capital, gain a sense of belonging in school (Becker et al., 2017). Researchers have documented the connection between grit and belonging in high school and middle school, usually in relation to finding ways to help support students who have less cultural and social capital make transitions more smoothly and persist in their educational goals (Gibson & Bejinez, 2002; Kitano et al., 2018). In other words, students who have a stronger sense of belonging exhibit more grit. Although studies have focused on the importance of belonging in terms of transition between grades and retention in higher education, limited research exists on the importance of belonging for helping elementary school kids persist toward educational goals. Focusing on how these concepts interact in elementary school children is important because research has shown that experiencing success and recognition early in life can promote a continued pathway to success (Benner et al., 2016, p. 1061).

Belonging has been positively correlated with components of grit in multiple studies. Specifically, researchers have found that sense of belonging and connectedness among peers is a significant resource that helps motivate people to persist in the face of adversity (Furrer & Skinner, 2003; Won, Wolters, & Mueller, 2018). In other words, a stronger sense of belonging might correspond to higher levels of grit.

Belonging has been conceptualized as relatedness (Furrer & Skinner, 2003; Osterman, 2000), as a process of sense making tied to place and value (Stahl & Habib, 2017), and in the context of membership in a particular group (Goodenow, 1993; Osterman, 2000). These different ways of understanding belonging have been tied to academic engagement and grit (Furrer & Skinner, 2003; Goodenow, 1993; Stahl & Habib, 2017). Because of the components of relatedness and membership within a group, sense of belonging can act as a form of social capital. The element not clearly understood is the relationship between social capital (in the form of belonging) and teachers' perceptions of grit.

Theory

Social Capital Theory

The most important quality of social capital differentiating it from other forms of capital is that it is accessed through relationships (Coleman, 1988). Some researchers have studied how social capital functions at a group level (Lin, 2017); others have assessed how social capital functions at an individual level (Lin, 2017). However, social capital at all levels involves resources available through relationship (Lin, 2017). Most notable, within education, social capital has been framed using Coleman's (1988) research to support findings that the social capital accessed by parents from high-SES backgrounds gives them more power in school policy and curricular decisions. Coleman defined three forms of social capital: obligations and expectations, information channels, and social norms. Coleman noted the advantages of higher levels of social capital demonstrated by parents from privileged backgrounds who combined their networking and economic resources to push for participation in decisions about anything from overarching curriculum to individual accommodations needed for their children. Although higher-SES parents have been assumed by researchers to have more social capital and to use it more effectively, parents from lower-classes theoretically could access and use social capital as well.

Few researchers have examined how parents from lower-SES backgrounds might access or activate social capital. However, families from lower-SES backgrounds do have access to social capital in various forms (Bolívar, 2011; Goddard, 2003). Much of the research on how families from lower-SES backgrounds use social capital has focused on differentiating between bonding social capital and bridging social capital and showing how those elements work together or build on each other (Coffé & Geys, 2007; Larsen et al., 2004).

In a recent study, scholars investigated the contributions of both financial capital and social capital to student academic success and determined that social capital actually mattered more than did financial capital for student achievement (Salloum, Goddard, & Berebitsky, 2018). Salloum et al. (2018) considered social capital reported from a teacher perspective, in particular, how teachers estimated "trust, social networks, and norms" (p. 290). The authors noted the need for a measure of social capital from the student perspective (Salloum et al., 2018). This finding was consistent with other researchers recommending study of ways in which youth social capital differs from adult social capital (Bassani, 2007).

In addition to looking at different forms of social capital, researchers have focused on adding to theory by narrowing the unit of analysis; for example, researchers have examined how the social capital theory framework could apply specifically to the youth population (Bassani, 2007). Additionally, scholars have attempted to narrow the theoretical focus by concentrating on a particular context (e.g., school, home, medical field, tech industry, digital communication; Baym, 2015; Gonzales, 2017). Many current researchers have called for additional study to build a deeper body of literature within a particular subfield of social capital, so that educators could use it more effectively and intentionally (Bassani, 2007; Portes, 1998; Putnam, 2000). One basic motivation for continued research into how social capital is defined, accessed, and activated stems from its role in reproducing or dissolving social inequality (Salloum et al., 2018). Therefore, it is important to gain a deeper understanding social capital, including who uses it most effectively and how it can be developed for disadvantaged groups. A basic introduction and development of social capital has emerged from study of the interactions between families and schools (Coleman, 1988).

In this study, I respond to the need for more research on how social capital is conceptualized in different contexts., I specifically study one way youths make use of social capital (in this case, elementary-aged school children). I apply a measure of social capital reported by young people themselves. Thus, my findings build on literature specifically targeted to gain a deep understanding of youth social capital.

Belonging as Youth Social Capital

Bassani (2007) wrote explicitly about the relevance of social capital for youth. Drawing on Coleman's (1988) theory of social capital, Bassani explored five areas of social capital with respect to how they were accessed and used for young people: (a) influences of social capital on well-being; (b) the positive nature of this connection; (c) transformation of social resources into social capital; (d) the complexity of creating social capital; and (e) the influences of family and school on young people's access to social capital (p. 18). For this study, the most relevant aspects of Bassani's research were areas *c* and *e*. In this study, belonging acts as a form of social capital attributable to social resources (e.g., feeling close, happy, safe, and connected). Additionally, I test whether this social capital resource (in the form of child sense of belonging) influences teachers' perceptions of students' grittines, a positive outcome that qualifies for element *e* on Bassani's list. In sum, grit can be a key factor in academic success and in some educational settings such as college an individual's capacity to exhibit grit is related to their sense of belonging (Gibson & Bejinez, 2002; Kitano et al., 2018). Investigating the relationship between belonging and teacher perception of grit in elementary school is important for extending the conversation about the role belonging plays in student success in elementary school – since grit is one key to academic success.

The Current Study

In this study, I examined the connection between social class, children's sense of belonging, and teachers' perceptions of grit. Two research questions guided the study:

- 1. Are teachers more likely to perceive children with higher-SES as exhibiting grit, relative to children with lower-SES?
- 2. Do children's differences in feeling a sense of belonging at school mediate any relationship between children's social class and perceived grit?

. Although some qualitative researchers have studied the importance of student connectedness and teacher perception in schools (Bower, Van Kraayenoord, & Carroll, 2015), the questions from the Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing Study dataset allow me to examine the relationships among grit, SES, and belonging for elementary school children using quantitative methods. Thus, I have contributed to an important line of inquiry for thinking about interventions that can help children from all backgrounds succeed in school.

Data and Methods

Data and Subset

The Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing Study (FFCWS) is a longitudinal study that followed a birth cohort of 4,898 children born in urban areas in the United States between 1998 and 2000 (Reichman, Teitler, Garfinkel, & McLanaha, 2001). The study was conducted with a predominantly low-income, minority sample that has been followed for the last 20 years (year 15 data were recently published; FFCWS, n.d.). Children born to unmarried parents were oversampled by almost a 3:1 ratio; cities were selected to provide representative data for U.S. cities with 200,000 or more people (Reichman et al., 2001). The core study consisted of interviews with mothers, fathers, or primary caregivers, gathered within 48 hours of birth or soon after, followed by additional interview when children were one, three, five, nine, and 15. Approvals to conduct the interviews were obtained from both the Princeton University Institutional Review Board and the individual hospitals (Reichman et al., 2001).

I restrict the present study to a subsample of the nine-year follow-up FFCWS, which included teacher interview data about teachers' perspectives on focal children. In addition, the nine-year follow-up FFCWS included a questionnaire for the focal children, which contributed variables about students' feelings related to school. Parent data are used to determine SES. Cases were dropped if data were missing from the student, teacher, or parent surveys. From the original 4,898 cases, I dropped 2,651 cases in which the dependent variable was missing data; the large number of missing cases was attributable to the lower teacher-survey response. Because I rely on mother-reported data for demographic variables, I removed 198 cases in which children were not living with their mother full-time. I removed 83 cases showing missing responses from childreported variables. Finally, I removed 12 cases with missing demographic variables.

The final analytic sample consists of 1,954 cases with data from parents, teachers, and children. Table 8 shows descriptive statistics. In approximately half the analytical sample, the mothers identified as Black/non-Hispanic (49%); 23% identified as White/non-Hispanic, 24% identified as Hispanic, and 4% chose *Other*. About half the sample involved female focal children (48%). Mothers who were not married at the time of the baseline study made up the majority of the sample (74%). In terms of education level, more than half the mothers in the sample (61%) reported their education level was high school or less when their children were born.

Table 8

	Mean	SD	Range
Married at baseline	0.26		(0,1)
Unmarried (ref)	0.74*		(0,1)
Race/ethnicity			
White/non-Hispanic	0.23		(0,1)
Black/non-Hispanic	0.49*		(0,1)
Hispanic	0.24		(0,1)
Other	0.04		(0,1)
Female child	0.48		(0,1)
Male child (ref)	0.52*		(0,1)
Education	2.21	0.99	(1,4)

Descriptive Statistics for Analytic Sample

Less than high school	0.29		(0,1)
HS diploma/GED	0.32*		(0,1)
Some college	0.27		(0,1)
4-year degree+	0.12		(0,1)
Annual household income	3.7	1.77	(1,6)
Less than \$10K	0.14		(0,1)
\$10,001-\$20K	0.18		(0,1)
\$20,001-\$30K	0.16		(0,1)
\$30,001-\$40K	0.13		(0,1)
\$40,001-\$60K	0.15		(0,1)
Greater than \$60K	0.24*		(0,1)
Belonging index	12.41	3.77	(0,16)

N = 1,954; *Modal category, (ref) = reference category for logistic regression

Measures

Dependent Variable: Grit

My outcome variable is teachers' perception of student grit. The nine-year FFCWS teacher survey contains a series of questions designed to collect attitudes about schoolwork and learning. I chose one of the questions that specifically addressed persistence as my dependent variable: "During the last month, decide whether the child behaved this way *never*, *sometimes*, *often*, or *very often* when considering how often they persisted in completing tasks?" Teacher responses were coded as 1 = never, 2 = sometimes, 3 = often, and 4 = very often.

Independent Variables: Socioeconomic Status and Belonging Index

SES: Income and Education. Previous researchers have used income and education to measure socioeconomic status and job prestige (Benner et al., 2016; Lareau,

1987; Lareau & Horvat, 1999). In this study, I include variables for mother's household income at the nine-year follow-up as well as education at baseline. Specific jobs were not reported in a way that prestige could be measured; however, the income and education variables serve as proxies for SES.

The FFCWS all-waves version of the dataset contains constructed variables for annual household income and education. I recoded the constructed variable for annual income to match the six ranges given as choices in the study questionnaire. Income ranges were coded as 1 = less than or equal to \$10,000; 2 = \$10,001 to \$20,000; 3 = \$20,001 to \$30,000; 4 = \$30,001 to \$40,000; 5 = \$40,001 to \$60,000; and 6 = greater than \$60,000. The constructed variable for education was broken into four categories. I recoded them to match so that 1 = less than high school, 2 = high school or GED, 3 = some college, and 4 = four-year degree or more.

Belonging Index. Several questions were asked of children in the FFCWS nineyear follow-up involving their feelings about belonging at school. Children were asked "Do you feel like you are a part of your school?" and asked to qualify if they felt that way *not once in the past month, 1 to 2 times in the past month, about once a week, several times a week,* or *every day*. In addition, children were asked to rate with the same scale whether they *feel close to people at school, feel happy to be at your school,* and *feel safe at your school.* Children's responses to these questions were coded as 0 = not once, 1 = 1to 2 times in the past month, 2 = once a week, 3 = several times a week, and 4 = every day. I included these four variables together in a reliability analysis, which resulted in a Cronbach's alpha of .69. I then constructed an index using all four variables by summing responses, resulting in a scale ranging from 0 to 16.

Control Variables

In addition to the independent variables, the analyses controlled for demographic variables known to correlate with SES, belongingness, and grit. These measures included mother's marital status (1 = married/partnered, 0 = otherwise), child gender (1 = girl, 0 = boy), and mother's race/ethnicity (White non-Hispanic, Black-non-Hispanic, Hispanic, and other). I recoded the variable for mother's race/ethnicity into dummy variables for each category.

Method

In order to assess whether differences existed in teacher perception of grit for children from different SES backgrounds, I test for income and education differences in the distributions of teacher perception of grit using a chi-square test for both SES measures. This test shows whether differences exist in teacher perception of grit related to SES background before I control for other factors. Next, I apply multivariate models. To investigate whether teachers are more likely to perceive that children with higher-SES exhibited grit, I estimate logistic regression models predicting teacher perception of grit with mothers' reported income and education. In order to test whether children's sense of belonging mediates any relationship between teacher perception of grit and children's SES, I estimate logistic regression models predicting teacher perception of grit with children's sense of belonging. I then calculate the predicted probabilities for teacher perception of grit in both models and compare the difference between lowest and highest probability for both income and education across both models.

Logistic regression presents difficulties during interpretation because of the presence of unobserved heterogeneity (Mood, 2010). Because variables that are not accounted for can affect results whether or not they correlate with other independent variables, care must be given to interpreting the results for logistic regression, particularly when comparing across models (Mood, 2010). In this case, I could not compare coefficients reliably across models; thus, the reported odds ratios are only reliable to show direction of effect contained within each individual model (Mood, 2010). To look for possible mediation and compare across models, I estimate the predicted probabilities of teachers reporting that children exhibited grit by each level of income and education before and after controlling for child-reported sense of belonging. Any differences in these predicted probabilities between models is expected to illuminate the relationship between children's sense of belonging and SES in terms of teacher perception of grit. In both models, I control for marital status reported during the baseline study, the sex of the focal child, and the race/ethnicity of the mother.

Results

Table 9 shows differences by mothers' household income in teachers' perceptions of grit. The chi-square test, a test of nonindependence, proves to be significant (p < .001). It appears that children with mothers who reported higher household income are more likely to be perceived by teachers as exhibiting grit. As the annual income reported by mothers increased, the difference between the top and bottom categories for teacher perception grows.

Table 9

Bivariate Analysis: Income

Grit	<\$10K	\$10-20K	\$20-30K	\$30-40K	\$40-60K	>\$60K+
Never	10%	10%	9%	5%	5%	3%
Sometimes	36%	37%	33%	38%	30%	22%
Often	28%	34%	29%	32%	35%	32%
Very often	26%	19%	29%	25%	30%	43%
Chi-square =	= 96.48 (<i>p</i> <	.001).				

For mothers in the lowest income bracket, 10% of teachers responded *never* to the question about whether they perceived children as exhibiting grit; 26% responded *very often* when asked whether children exhibited grit. On the other hand, for mothers in the highest income bracket, only 3% of teachers responded *never* to the question of whether children exhibited grit while 43% responded *very often* to the question of grit. Notably, teachers perceived at least half of all children as exhibiting grit *often* or *very often*, regardless of mother's reported income.

Table 10 shows the results of bivariate analysis for mothers' level of education and teacher perception of children exhibiting grit. In terms of the education reported at baseline, the test proves significant (p < .001). The largest difference in teacher perception appeared for children of mothers with four-year degrees or higher. As the level of education increased, the gap between the percentage of teachers reporting the top and bottom categories grew.

Table 10

Bivariate Analysis: Education	

Grit	Less than HS	HS/GED	Some college	4-year degree+
Never	8%	8%	6%	2%
Sometimes	38%	32%	29%	22%
Often	31%	32%	33%	30%
Very often	23%	28%	32%	46%
Chi-square = 5	58.18 (<i>p</i> < .001).			

For children of mothers who reported less than a high school education at baseline, 8% of teachers responded *never* to the question of whether children exhibited grit; 23% responded *very often* to the same question. For children of mothers with fouryear degrees or higher, 2% of the teachers responded *never* to the question about grit, and 46% responded *very often* to the same question. However, 54% of children with mothers who reported having less than a high school education during the baseline study were also perceived by teachers to be exhibiting grit, showing that many children, regardless of SES are perceived by teachers as exhibiting grit and therefore could gain the academic benefits that may have come with that grit.

Logistic Regression

Table 11 shows the results from a logistic regression analysis. Model 1 includes the control variables and variables for socioeconomic status. Model 2 adds the belonging

index. In Model 1, relative to mothers with less that a high school degree, mothers with some college and those with a four-year degree were statistically significantly more likely to have children that teachers perceived as having greater grit. In addition, the SES variable of income shows a positive relationship with minimal statistical significance for the categories of \$40,000 to \$60,000 and greater than \$60,000. Results in Model 1 show that, relative to the reference category of less than high school, the education variable is significantly related across two categories; the income variable, relative to the reference category of annual income of less than \$10K, is only significantly related in two of the six categories, and the p-values for significance were higher for the education variable.

Table 11

	Model 1 Exp(B)	(SE)	Model 2 Exp(B)	(SE)
Married at baseline	1.33*	(0.14)	1.36*	(0.14)
Unmarried (ref)				
Race/ethnicity:				
White/non-Hispanic (ref)				
Black/non-Hispanic	0.81	(0.14)	0.82	(0.14)
Hispanic	1.15	(0.15)	1.13	(0.15)
Other	1.22*	(0.29)	1.24	(0.29)
Female child	2.28***	(0.10)	2.20***	(0.10)
Male child (ref)				
	Socioeconomic	variables		
Education at baseline				
Less than high school (ref)				
HS diploma/GED	1.20	(0.12)	1.19	(0.12)
Some college	1.28†	(0.14)	1.27†	(0.14)
4-year degree+	1.46†	(0.22)	1.39	(0.22)
Annual income				
Less than \$10K (ref)				
\$10-\$20K	1.01	(0.17)	0.98	(0.17)
\$20-\$30K	1.15	(0.17)	1.11	(0.18)
\$30-\$40K	1.09	(0.18)	1.06	(0.18)
\$40-\$60K	1.40†	(0.18)	1.35	(0.18)
Greater than \$60K	1.98***	(0.19)	1.92*	(0.19)
Belonging index			1.05***	(0.01)
Constant	0.72		0.41***	

Odds Ratios for Logistic Regression Models Predicting Teacher Perception that Children Exhibit Grit

 $\dagger p < 0.1, *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001.$

In Model 2, the statistical significance of education for the category some college remains the same as in Model 1. In contrast, when compared to the reference categories of less than high school and an annual income of less than \$10K, the education category of four-year degree or more and the category of household income from \$40,000 to \$60,000 are no longer statistically significant. Additionally, the *p*-value of the income category of greater than \$60,000 drops from p < .001 to p < .05. Most notably, the belonging index shows significance for positive effects (p < .001). Controlling for marital status at baseline, race/ethnicity, child sex, education, and income, for each increase on the sense of belonging index, children are 1.05 times more likely to be perceived by teachers as exhibiting grit.

Once I control for sense of belonging in Model 2, the variables of both education and income shift in categorical significance. This outcome could indicate that the effect of SES on teacher perception might be mediated by children's sense of belonging. However, comparison across models when using logistic regression is problematic because effects can change with the addition of new independent variables depending on variables not included in either model; therefore, relationships could not be deduced by comparing coefficients (Mood, 2010). To test if mediation is actually occurring, I calculate predicted probabilities for the predictor variables measuring SES in both models, using the following equation: Probability = Exp(A + B(X))/1 + Exp(A + B(X)). Table 12 shows the predicted probability results by category for education and income. In each case, I show the value attached to modal categories to account for other variables. addition, I report the difference in spread between the predicted probabilities for the categories of education and income in each model.

Table 12

	Model 1	Model 2	
Education			
Less than high school	.54	.39	
HS diploma or GED	.58	.43	
Some college	.60	.45	
4-year degree+	.63	.47	
Difference in spread	0.09	0.08	
Change in difference	0.01		
Annual income			
Less than \$10K	.41	.28	
\$10-\$20K	.42	.29	
\$20-\$30K	.45	.30	
\$30-40K	.43	.30	
\$40-\$60K	.50	.35	
\$60K+	.58	.43	
Difference in spread	0.17	0.15	
Change in difference	0.02		

Predicted Probabilities for Teacher Perceptions that Students will Exhibit Grit

Results show very little difference in the spread between highest and lowest predicted probability within the categories for each variable when comparing across models. This finding indicates that child's sense of belonging does not mediate the relationship between SES and teacher perception of grit. Instead, children's sense of belonging has a unique and positive relationship with teachers' perceptions that they were exhibiting grit.

Discussion and Conclusion

Previous researchers have explored the connection between grit and academic achievement (Christensen & Knezek, 2014) and between belonging and grit (Becker et al., 2017; Nora, 2004). Results from my analysis show that belonging has a unique and positive relationship with teachers' perceptions of the presence of grit, conceptualized as teachers' perceptions of student persistence. Because research has shown that grit positively impacts educational outcomes, anything that increases the likelihood that teachers perceive students as exhibiting grit is important to understand. My study shoes that an elementary school child's sense of belonging is positively correlated with teacher perception of grit, providing evidence that a sense of belonging can act as a form of youth social capital.

Because the measures for child sense of belonging seemed focused on children's connection with others at school, in this study, I was most interested in focusing on the role played by social capital with respect to teachers' perceptions of grit. However, there may be other aspects of belonging that are more tied to culture – for example of belonging is sometimes defined in connection with identity (Gray, Hope & Matthews, 2018). Some researchers have looked at the role of secondary school teachers as gatekeepers who reward students based on a broad list of characteristics that reflect membership within the dominant culture (Farkas et al., 2014; Lamont & Lareau, 1988;

Swidler, 1986). Because belonging can also be conceived as connected to identity, future research should explore sense of belonging as a source of cultural capital as well.

This study built on previous research to show one way that belonging can contribute to perception of grit, a quality shown to be important for academic achievement (Strayhorn, 2014). My results show that for elementary school children, belonging has a unique positive effect on teachers' perceptions that students exhibit grit. In addition, looking at grit as a developing characteristic supports the idea that belonging acts as a form of youth social capital, functioning as a mechanism that holds children in school where they learn habits and behaviors that translate into success in the dominant culture.

Implications for Policy and Practice

Results of the study indicate that more effort should be spent on developing policies that support creating a sense of community and belonging for elementary school children. Additionally, teachers should receive specific training on the importance of student belonging, including helping teachers develop habits, skills, and language specifically geared to facilitate student sense of belonging. Strategies and methods of behavior form in elementary schools; if belonging is an important contributor to grit, educators need to prioritize supporting students in a way that supports the importance of feeling included – belonging.

Limitations and Future Research

One limitation of this study was that it was not possible to derive meanings from teachers' and students' survey responses. Qualitative differences might exist across

experiences of feelings of belonging and perceptions of grit that this study did not capture. It is important for future researchers to explore elementary school children's understanding of what it means to belong and assess how children feel about their ability to persist related to their sense of belonging. Further study of the connection between belonging and social capital could help educators understand different ways that people from different class backgrounds navigate the educational system. Additionally, although in this study, I found a relationship between SES and grit, the mechanism for testing was not definitive; future researchers should question whether children's sense of belonging does in fact mediate this relationship.

References

- Agbenyega, J. S. (2017). When belonging becomes belonging: A Bourdieuian theorisation. *International Journal of Whole Schooling*, *13*(1), 5–16.
- Akos, P., & Kretchmar, J. (2017). Investigating grit as a non-cognitive predictor of college success. *The Review of Higher Education*, 40(2), 163–186.
- Aparicio, M., Bacao, F., & Oliveira, T. (2017). Grit in the path to elearning success. *Computers in Human Behavior, 66*, 388-399.
- Bassani, C. (2007). Five dimensions of social capital theory as they pertain to youth studies. *Journal of Youth Studies*, *10*(1), 17–34.
- Baym, N. K. (2015). *Personal connections in the digital age*. Malden, MA: John Wiley & Sons.
- Becker, M. A. S., Schelbe, L., Romano, K., & Spinelli, C. (2017). Promoting firstgeneration college students' mental well-being: student perceptions of an academic enrichment program. *Journal of College Student Development*, 58(8), 1166–1183.
- Benner, A. D., Boyle, A. E., & Sadler, S. (2016). Parental involvement and adolescents' educational success: The roles of prior achievement and socioeconomic status. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 45(6), 1053–1064.
- Bolívar, J. M., & Chrispeels, J. H. (2011). Enhancing parent leadership through building social and intellectual capital. *American Educational Research Journal*, 48(1), 4-38.
- Bonfiglio, R. (2017). Grit is not enough. About Campus, 22(5), 29-31.
- Bower, J. M., Van Kraayenoord, C., & Carroll, A. (2015). Building social connectedness in schools: Australian teachers' perspectives. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 70, 101–109.
- Bowman, N. A., Hill, P. L., Denson, N., & Bronkema, R. (2015). Keep on truckin'or stay the course? Exploring grit dimensions as differential predictors of educational achievement, satisfaction, and intentions. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 6(6), 639–645.
- Brown, B. B., & Lohr, M. J. (1987). Peer-group affiliation and adolescent self-esteem: An integration of ego-identity and symbolic-interaction theories. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52(1), 47.

- Butler, R., & Muir, K. (2017). Young people's education biographies: Family relationships, social capital and belonging. *Journal of Youth Studies*, 20(3), 316– 331.
- Chesters, J., & Daly, A. (2017). Do peer effects mediate the association between family socio-economic status and educational achievement? *Australian Journal of Social Issues*, *52*(1), 63–77.
- Christensen, R., & Knezek, G. (2014). Comparative measures of grit, tenacity and perseverance. *International Journal of Learning, Teaching, and Educational Research,* 8(1).
- Coffé, H., & Geys, B. (2007). Toward an empirical characterization of bridging and bonding social capital. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly, 36*(1), 121–139.
- Coleman, J. S. (1987). Families and schools. *Educational Researcher*, 16(6), 32–38.
- Coleman, J. S. (1988). Social capital in the creation of human capital. *American Journal* of Sociology, 94, S95–S120.
- Dell'Angelo, T. (2016). The power of perception: Mediating the impact of poverty on student achievement. *Education and Urban Society*, 48(3), 245–261.
- Duckworth, A. L., Peterson, C., Matthews, M. D., & Kelly, D. R. (2007). Grit: perseverance and passion for long-term goals. Journal of personality and social psychology, 92(6), 1087.
- Farkas, G. (1996). Human capital or cultural capital? Ethnicity and poverty groups in an urban school district. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Farkas, G. (2003). Cognitive skills and noncognitive traits and behaviors in stratification processes. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 29(1), 541–562.
- Farkas, G., Grobe, R. P., Sheehan, D., & Shuan, Y. (1990, February 1). Cultural resources and school success: Gender, ethnicity, and poverty groups within an urban school district. *American Sociological Review*, 127–142.
- Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing Study (FFCWS) (n.d.) retrieved Jun 15, 2019 from https://fragilefamilies.princeton.edu/
- Furrer, C., & Skinner, E. (2003). Sense of relatedness as a factor in children's academic engagement and performance. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 95(1), 148.
- Gibson, M. A., & Bejinez, L. F. (2002). Dropout prevention: How migrant education supports Mexican youth. *Journal of Latinos and Education*, 1(3), 155–175.

- Gonzales, A. L. (2017). Disadvantaged minorities' use of the Internet to expand their social networks. *Communication Research*, 44(4), 467–486.
- Goodenow, C. (1993). The psychological sense of school membership among adolescents: Scale development and educational correlates. *Psychology in the Schools*, *30*(1), 79–90.
- Gray, D. L., Hope, E. C., & Matthews, J. S. (2018). Black and belonging at school: A case for interpersonal, instructional, and institutional opportunity structures. *Educational Psychologist*, 53(2), 97-113.
- Hernández, M. M., Robins, R. W., Widaman, K. F., & Conger, R. D. (2017). Ethnic pride, self-esteem, and school belonging: A reciprocal analysis over time. *Developmental Psychology*, 53(12), 2384.
- Hernández, M. M., Robins, R. W., Widaman, K. F., & Conger, R. D. (2016). School belonging, generational status, and socioeconomic effects on Mexican-origin children's later academic competence and expectations. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 26(2), 241–256.
- Hochanadel, A., & Finamore, D. (2015). Fixed and growth mindset in education and how grit helps students persist in the face of adversity. *Journal of International Education Research*, 11(1), 47.
- Hodges, N. J., Ford, P. R., Hendry, D. T., & Williams, A. M. (2017). Getting gritty about practice and success: Motivational characteristics of great performers. *Progress in Brain Research*, 232, 167–173.
- Holt, L. (2008). Embodied social capital and geographic perspectives: performing the habitus. *Progress in Human Geography*, 322(2), 227–246.
- Kitano, N., Jindo, T., Nakahara-Gondoh, Y., Sakamoto, S., Gushiken, T., Suzukawa, K., & Nagamatsu, T. (2018). Building grit in Japanese male high-school students: Examining the role of belonging to an organized sports activity. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 62(2), S123–S124.
- Lamont, M., & Lareau, A. (1988, October). Cultural capital: Allusions, gaps and glissandos in recent theoretical developments. *Sociological Theory*, 153–168.
- Lareau, A. (1987). Social class differences in family-school relationships: The importance of cultural capital. *Sociology of Education*, 73–85.
- Lareau, A. (2015). Cultural knowledge and social inequality. *American Sociological Review*, 80(1), 1–27.

- Lareau, A., & Horvat, E. M. (1999). Moments of social inclusion and exclusion race, class, and cultural capital in family-school relationships. *Sociology of Education*, 37–53.
- Larsen, L., Harlan, S. L., Bolin, B., Hackett, E. J., Hope, D., Kirby, A., . . . Wolf, S. (2004). Bonding and bridging: Understanding the relationship between social capital and civic action. *Journal of Planning Education and Research*, 24(1), 64– 77.
- Lin, N. (2017). Building a network theory of social capital. In N. Lin, K. Cook, & R. S. Burt (Eds.), *Social capital: Theory and research* (pp. 3–28). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Mood, C. (2010). Logistic regression: Why we cannot do what we think we can do, and what we can do about it. *European Sociological Review*, 26(1), 67-82.
- Mueller, B. A., Wolfe, M. T., & Syed, I. (2017). Passion and grit: An exploration of the pathways leading to venture success. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *32*(3), 260–279.
- Nora, A. (2004). The role of habitus and cultural capital in choosing a college, transitioning from high school to higher education, and persisting in college among minority and nonminority students. *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education*, 3(2), 180–208.
- Osterman, Karen F. (2000). Students' need for belonging in the school community. *Review of Educational Research*, 70(3), 323–367.
- Portes, Alejandro. (1998). Social capital: Its origins and applications in modern sociology. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 24(1), 1–24.
- Putnam, R. D. (2000). Bowling alone: America's declining social capital. In L. Crothers & C. Lockhart (Eds.), *Culture and politics: A reader* (pp. 223–234). New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Reichman, N. E., Teitler, J. O., Garfinkel, I., & McLanahan, S. S. (2001). Fragile families: Sample and design. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 23(4/5), 303– 326.
- Riegle-Crumb, C., & Callahan, R. M. (2009). Exploring the academic benefits of friendship ties for Latino boys and girls. *Social Science Quarterly*, 90(3), 611– 631.

- Salloum, S. J., Goddard, R. D., & Berebitsky, D. (2018). Resources, Learning, and Policy: The Relative Effects of Social and Financial Capital on Student Learning in Schools. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk (JESPAR)*, 23(4), 281-303.
- Schaefer-McDaniel, N. J. (2004). Conceptualizing social capital among young people: toward a new theory. *Children, Youth and Environments*, *14*(1), 140–150.
- Stahl, G., & Habib, S. (2017). Moving beyond the confines of the local: Working-class students' conceptualizations of belonging and respectability. *Young*, 25(3), 268– 285.
- Stoffel, J. M., & Cain, J. (2018). Review of grit and resilience literature within health professions education. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 82(2), 6150.
- Strayhorn, T. L. (2014). What Role does grit play in the academic success of black male collegians at predominantly white institutions? *Journal of African American Studies*, 18(1), 1–10.
- Tomek, S., Bolland, A. C., Hooper, L. M., Hitchcock, S., & Bolland, J. M. (2017). The impact of middle school connectedness on future high school outcomes in a black American sample. *Middle Grades Research Journal*, *11*(1), 1–12.
- Weisskirch, R. S. (2018). Grit, self-esteem, learning strategies and attitudes and estimated and achieved course grades among college students. *Current Psychology*, *37*(1), 21–27.
- Won, S., Wolters, C. A. & Mueller, S. A. (2018). Sense of belonging and self-regulated learning: Testing achievement goals as mediators. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 86(3), 402–418.

Chapter 5: Conclusion

I began my research with a desire to understand more deeply the role of different forms of capital in the relationship between home and school. I was motivated by the cognitive dissonance I perceived between the idea of the American Dream and the reality of social inequality. In addition, I felt that examining forms of capital within the context of school might foster a better understanding of how to reconcile the idea of school as a "great equalizer" (Johnson, 2006, p. 31) with the reproduction of social inequalities documented by Bourdieu (1986), Coleman (1989), Lareau (1987), and Farkas (1996).

Contributions from My Studies

In the first paper, I found that teachers perceive both pros and cons when it comes to the use of digital communication to build and maintain relationships with parents. The pros of digital communication included teaming and positive check-ins, asynchronous timing and role validation, and behavior and special accommodations. The cons described by teachers included miscommunication and lack of boundaries as well as barriers related to access. Additionally, I found that the proliferation of smartphones in recent years has increased the ability of parents from lower-SES backgrounds to form relationships with teachers and work toward shared goals. I also found that smartphone apps might be a more inclusive way for teachers to communicate with parents across class background, particularly if there are language barriers, but that teacher proficiency with technology can act as a barrier if the teacher was less enthusiastic about pursuing different technological expertise. In the second paper, I found that mothers across all class groups had access to forms of bonding social capital and that there might be some interaction between bonding social capital and the income component of SES. Most important, I found that bonding social capital was available to mothers from lower-SES families, and their bonding social capital had a statistically significant positive effect on teachers' perceptions that they shared goals with their schools.

In the final paper, I found that a child's sense of belonging was a form of social capital that had positive effects on teachers' perceptions that children would persist in completing tasks, an important element of grit. Given that retention is a constant concern of primary level and secondary level educators, an increased awareness of the power of this form of social capital presents many possibilities for influencing policies directed at improving educational experiences not necessarily tied to concrete monetary resources.

Overall, these three papers represent a significant contribution to the literature on social capital and provide many additional avenues of inquiry for future research.

Revisiting Themes from my Introduction

Social Capital and Social Mobility

Putnam (2000) argued that diminished social capital affects the quality of the education American children receive and has the potential to create the most damaging consequences, specifically related to decreased opportunity for social mobility (p. 306). Education has long been named a key to social mobility, yet increasingly, the opportunities for social mobility seem to be shrinking, and policy makers have been unable to create educational systems that reduce rather than reproduce inequality (Brown, 2013). Brown argued that social mobility itself has actually become part of the problem because of society's inability to "resolve the central problem of educational and societal inequalities" (p. 10). In drawing attention to the central nature of education in the role of reproducing social inequalities, Brown underscored Putnam's findings highlighting the importance of education. Putnam connected the relevance of social capital:

Child development is powerfully shaped by social capital. A considerable body of research dating back at least fifty years has demonstrated that trust, networks, and norms of reciprocity within a child's family, school, peer group, and larger community have wide-ranging effects on the child's opportunities and choices and hence, on his behavior and development. (p. 296).

In my qualitative study on the role of email in facilitating parent–teacher communication, I investigated one area in which social capital could be enhanced to increase the odds of social mobility.

Cultural Capital and Lower-SES Families

Farkas (1996) argued that scholars have spent too much time looking for differences in values possessed by families from different class backgrounds (p. 12). Instead, educators should understand that values are shared across all income groups; different levels of cultural capital "are better described as culturally-shaped skills, habits and styles than as values or preferences" (Farkas, 1996, p. 12). Skills, habits, and styles can be formed into "tool kits" that individuals use to carry out strategies to help them achieve their goals. Farkas (1996) argues that previous researchers have focused too much on the alignment of values between higher-SES parents and teachers to explain disparity of education outcomes (p.12). My findings provide more evidence that other factors are involved. The cultural capital lower-SES parents can access and activate might actually be a powerful tool in shifting stratification norms in elementary schools.

References

- Bourdieu, P. (2011). The forms of capital (1986). In I. Szeman & T. Kaposy (Eds.), *Cultural theory: An anthology* (pp. 81-93). Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons.
- Brown, P. (2013): Education, opportunity and the prospects for social mobility. *British* Journal of Sociology of Education, 34(5/6), 678–700.
- Coleman, J. S. (1988). Social capital in the creation of human capital. *American Journal* of Sociology, 94, S95-S120.
- Farkas, G. (1996). *Human capital or cultural capital? Ethnicity and poverty groups in an urban school district.* New York, NY: Routledge.
- Johnson, H. B. (2006). *The American dream and the power of wealth: Choosing schools and inheriting inequality in the land of opportunity.* New York, NY: Routledge.
- Lareau, A. (1987). Social class differences in family-school relationships: The importance of cultural capital. *Sociology of Education*, 60(2), 73-85.
- Putnam, R. D. (2000). Bowling alone: America's declining social capital. In L. Crothers & C. Lockhart (Eds.), *Culture and politics: A reader* (pp. 223–234). New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.

Appendix A: Qualitative Research Instrument

Interview Questions

Tell me about how email is used in your communications with parents? What kinds of emails do you send/receive?

(prompt) are they about how the child is doing? Informational? Different topics?

From your perspective, what are some of the benefits of email communication with parents?

Can you tell me a story about an email communication that highlights this benefit?

From your perspective, what are some of the struggles or difficulties involved in email communication with parents?

Is there a story you are willing to share that illustrates this issue?

Have you noticed any change since the proliferation of smartphones in the frequency of technology based communication?

How do you perceive smartphones as impacting the use of email in parent/teacher communication?

Is there a story you can tell me that demonstrates the impact that smartphones have had?

What is the role of email in building a partnership with the parents of your students? Are there specific strategies you use when emailing parents in order to facilitate being on the same page?

Have you thought of other ways you could use email in communication with parents?

Tell me a story of one email interaction that you have had with one of your student's parents that stands out as particularly meaningful for you. Why does that particular interaction stand out?

Short demographic survey

Age: Gender: Race: Marital status: Education: Occupation: Annual Income (circle one): 30-39K 40-49K 50-59K 60+

Appendix B: Quantitative Codebook

The following is a list of codes used in my quantitative analysis which came from the Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing Study. The allwaves version was used as a source for data.

<u>Constructed variables</u> Race/eth – cm1ethrace Household income – cm5hhinc Mother's education at baseline – cm1edu Child sex – cm1bsex

<u>Mother survey</u> Marital status – m1a4 Social support Count on a friend to loan \$200 – m5e3 Count on a friend for a place to live – m5e4 Count on emergency childcare – m5e6 Count on friend to co-sign \$1000 bank loan – m5e6 Count on help to pay for child's extracurricular activities – m5e6b

Child survey

Do you feel part of school – k5e1a Do you feel close to someone at school – k5e1b Do you feel happy at school – k5e1c Do you feel safe at school – k5e1d

<u>Teacher survey</u> Do you feel parents share goals with the school - t5d7Do you feel that child persists toward completing tasks - t5b2